

https://lib.uliege.be



https://matheo.uliege.be

Periodicity of tree growth and carbon storage in the Yangambi Biosphere Reserve

Auteur : Hicter, Pauline
Promoteur(s) : De Mil, Tom; 5442
Faculté : Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech (GxABT)
Diplôme : Master en bioingénieur : gestion des forêts et des espaces naturels, à finalité spécialisée
Année académique : 2021-2022
URI/URL : http://hdl.handle.net/2268.2/15455

Avertissement à l'attention des usagers :

Tous les documents placés en accès ouvert sur le site le site MatheO sont protégés par le droit d'auteur. Conformément aux principes énoncés par la "Budapest Open Access Initiative" (BOAI, 2002), l'utilisateur du site peut lire, télécharger, copier, transmettre, imprimer, chercher ou faire un lien vers le texte intégral de ces documents, les disséquer pour les indexer, s'en servir de données pour un logiciel, ou s'en servir à toute autre fin légale (ou prévue par la réglementation relative au droit d'auteur). Toute utilisation du document à des fins commerciales est strictement interdite.

Par ailleurs, l'utilisateur s'engage à respecter les droits moraux de l'auteur, principalement le droit à l'intégrité de l'oeuvre et le droit de paternité et ce dans toute utilisation que l'utilisateur entreprend. Ainsi, à titre d'exemple, lorsqu'il reproduira un document par extrait ou dans son intégralité, l'utilisateur citera de manière complète les sources telles que mentionnées ci-dessus. Toute utilisation non explicitement autorisée ci-avant (telle que par exemple, la modification du document ou son résumé) nécessite l'autorisation préalable et expresse des auteurs ou de leurs ayants droit.



Periodicity of tree growth and carbon storage in the Yangambi Biosphere Reserve

Pauline HICTER

Travail de fin d'études présenté en vue de l'obtention du diplôme de master de bioingénieur en gestion des forêts et espaces naturels, à finalité spécialisée

Année académique 2021-2022

PROMOTEUR: TOM DEMIL (ULIÈGE), CO-PROMOTEUR: HANS BEECKMAN (MRAC)

Toute reproduction du présent document, par quelque procédé que ce soit, ne peut être réalisée qu'avec l'autorisation de l'auteur et de l'autorité académique de Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech. Le présent document n'engage que son auteur



Periodicity of tree growth and carbon storage in the Yangambi Biosphere Reserve

Pauline HICTER

Travail de fin d'études présenté en vue de l'obtention du diplôme de master de bioingénieur en gestion des forêts et espaces naturels, à finalité spécialisée

Année académique 2021-2022

PROMOTEUR: TOM DEMIL (ULIÈGE), CO-PROMOTEUR: HANS BEECKMAN (MRAC)

Acknowledgements

Je souhaite commencer par remercier toutes les personnes qui m'ont aidé à mener à bien ce travail.

Tout d'abord, je tiens à remercier mon promoteur et mon co-promoteur, le professeur Tom De Mil et le docteur Hans Beeckman pour leur aide et leurs conseils avisés lors de la réalisation de ce travail. Merci à eux pour leur encadrement et aide respectifs.

Je remercie tout particulièrement Basile Luse Belangayani, avec qui j'ai partagé rires et larmes, pour m'avoir encadré dans les premiers pas de ce travail, mais également pour sa bienveillance, son humour et sa générosité tout au long de mon séjour à Yangambi. Je lui souhaite une bonne continuation dans l'élaboration de sa thèse.

Merci à Maximilien, sans qui la collecte des données nécessaires à ce travail, ainsi que celle de ces « petits bouts de bois » auraient été largement compromises.

Je remercie également Nestor, Trésor, Donatien et Jean-Pierre pour nos nombreux échanges et discussions, les kilos de cacahuètes et de bananes partagés mais surtout pour votre bienveillance et votre bonne humeur.

Merci à l'équipe du Musée Royal de l'Afrique Centrale plus particulièrement Félix et Nils pour leur aide et leur altruisme. Merci également à Kévin, pour sa bonne humeur communicative et son aide précieuse dans les laboratoires que ce soit sous l'Equateur ou en Belgique.

Je tiens également à remercier mes colocataires « Yangambiens » Lucien, Felix et Principe. Et plus particulièrement Jéssica, avec qui j'aurai toujours le plaisir de papoter. Mon séjour n'aurait pas été le même sans vous.

Merci à la « team des 7 » : Thomas, Camille, Chloé, Marie, Méla et Marie, qui se reconnaitront sans nulles doutes, pour ces belles années partagées à vos côtés. Merci à mes nombreux kokoteurs pour toutes les péripéties vécues ensemble. Merci à Eva et Arthur pour les pauses gourmandes lors de la rédaction de nos TFE respectifs.

Enfin, j'adresse un tout grand merci à ma famille pour leur soutien tout au long de mes études et lors de mes expéditions à l'étranger. Merci à mon papa, à Margaux modèle indéfectible pour sa petite soeur, à François pour son aide inestimable. Plus particulièrement, merci à ma Maman, qui a vécu avec moi toutes les joies et les peines liées à ces années d'étude. Merci pour ton soutien sans failles.

Le voyage réalisé dans le cadre du présent travail/stage a été rendu possible grâce au soutien financier de l'Académie de recherche et d'enseignement supérieur de la Fédération Wallonie-Bruxelles, Belgique, dans le cadre de sa politique de Coopération au développement.

Abstract

Congo Basin forests are crucial for sequestrating carbon from the atmosphere, notwithstanding that this key function is critically threatened. In the context of climate change, it is essential to better understand how and when carbon is fixed within the woody tissue. Carbon uptake by trees is typically a periodic process, even for tropical forests. This justifies studying both cambial activity as well as rhythms of leaf development over the seasons. Forests of Central Africa are subjected to a variety of rainfall and temperature regimes, with varying degrees of seasonality, impacting the floristic composition that makes up these forests. Nowadays, numerous studies on phenological rhythmicity are conducted in forests with clear seasonality, focusing mainly on deciduous species. However, leaf and cambial phenology of evergreen species from tropical climates with low seasonality, such in the Congo Basin are still little studied, preventing a good understanding of relationships between climate, tree growth and carbon sequestration processes.

Here, I propose an original approach aiming at characterizing cambial and foliar phenologies of 6 abundant evergreen or brevi-deciduous tree species during the onset of the rainy season in Yangambi forest: Leplaeae thompsonii, Panda oleosa, Petersianthus macrocarpus, Scorodophloeus zenkeri, Synsepalum subcordatum and Trilepisium madagascariense. The objective was also to analyse the relation between climatic variables and anatomical features of the cambial zone during the transitional season between dry and short rainy seasons from February to May 2022.

In order to meet these goals, the first objective was to determine the status of cambium for the tree species by using micro-coring technique and by studying its ring anatomy. The second objective was to characterise the leaf phenology of the trees monitored using binoculars and phenocam over the study period. The last objective was to link the cambial and leaf phenologies together and to relate them to the evolution of the weather parameters collected locally.

On average for the 6 species between 5 and 8 cells of 5 to 8 μ m each are observed within the 11 μ m wide cambial zone. Cambial activity was observed for *P. oleosa*, *P. macrocarpus*, *S. zenkeri* and *T. madagascariense* with an average of 4, 6 and 5 cells in the enlargement, thickening and in lignification phases, respectively. In addition, high variability of cambial status but also of leaf phenology exists traducing by different and asynchronous leaf and cambial phenomena between and within the different species. The phenological trends observed at the scale of the monitoring plots seem to be comparable to those of the forest. Finally, strong correlations are observed for some individuals between time exposure and rainfall with *P. oleosa* and *S. zenkeri*, and with temperatures for *T. madagascariense* and *P. macrocarpus*. But these parameters are insufficient to predict cells production.

To conclude, evidence was found that a detailed study of the cambial activity offers appealing perspectives for analysis of periodic tree growth and carbon sequestration. Obtained results are innovative in the field of research associated with cambial analysis and phenology in general, providing relevant elements about cambial status for the study period. It emphasises the importance of combining cambial, phenological and climatic parameters together.

Keywords: Cambium, Phenology, Tropical forests, Congo Basin, Yangambi, Wood biology, Carbon

Résumé

Les forêts du Bassin du Congo séquestrent du carbone présent dans l'atmosphère, pourtant elles sont soumises à de nombreuses menaces. Dans le contexte du changement climatique, il devient impératif de mieux appréhender comment et quand le carbone est fixé au sein de la matière ligneuse présente dans les arbres. L'absorption du carbone par les arbres est généralement un processus périodique, même dans les forêts tropicales. Ceci justifie l'étude de la phénologie cambiale ainsi que des rythmes de développement des feuilles au cours des saisons. Les forêts d'Afrique centrale sont soumises à une variété de régimes pluviométriques et thermiques, avec des degrés de saisonnalité variables, ayant un impact sur la composition floristique des forêts. De nos jours, de nombreuses études sur la rythmicité phénologique sont menées dans des forêts à saisonnalité marquée, se concentrant principalement sur les espèces à feuilles caduques. Cependant, la phénologie foliaire et cambiale des espèces à feuilles persistantes des climats tropicaux à faible saisonnalité, comme le Bassin du Congo, est encore peu étudiée, empêchant une bonne compréhension des relations entre climat, croissance des arbres et processus de séquestration du carbone.

Ce travail propose une approche originale pour la compréhension et la caractérisation des phénologies cambiales et foliaires de 6 espèces d'arbres sempervirents et semi-décidus abondants au sein des forêts de Yangambi : Leplaeae thompsonii, Panda oleosa, Petersianthus macrocarpus, Scorodophloeus zenkeri, Synsepalum subcordatum et Trilepisium madagascariense. Il propose également une mise en relation de différents paramètres climatiques et de l'anatomie cambiale au cours de la transition saisonnière depuis la saison sèche à la petite saison des pluies entre les mois de février et mai 2022.

Afin de répondre à ces manquements, un premier objectif consiste à déterminer le statut cambial des 6 espèces suivies en utilisant la technique du micro-carottage et en étudiant l'anatomie des cernes de croissance. Un second objectif est de caractériser la phénologie foliaire des individus suivis à l'échelle des parcelles à l'aide de jumelles et à l'échelle de la forêt avec des phenocams. Le dernier objectif est de comparer phénologie cambiale et foliaire, et de les mettre en relation avec l'évolution des variables climatiques locales.

En moyenne pour les 6 espèces, entre 5 et 8 cellules de 5 à 8 μ m sont observées dans la zone cambiale de 11 μ m de large. Une activité cambiale a été observée pour *P. oleosa*, *P. macrocarpus*, *S. zenkeri* et *T. madagascariense* avec une moyenne de 4, 6 et 5 cellules en phase d'élargissement, d'épaississement et de lignification, respectivement. Par ailleurs, une forte variabilité des statuts cambiaux et de la phénologie foliaire existe entre et au sein des espèces. Les tendances phénologiques à l'échelle des parcelles suivies semblent comparables à celle de la forêt. Finalement, de fortes corrélations sont observées pour certains individus entre le temps d'exposition et la pluviométrie pour *P. oleosa* et *S. zenkeri*, et avec les températures pour *T. madagascariense* et *P. macrocarpus*. Mais ces paramètres sont insuffisants pour prédire la production de cellules.

Pour conclure, il a été démontré qu'une étude détaillée de l'activité cambiale offre des perspectives intéressantes pour l'analyse de la croissance périodique des arbres et la séquestration carbone. Les résultats obtenus sont novateurs dans le domaine de la recherche associée à l'analyse cambiale et à la phénologie en général, fournissant des éléments pertinents sur l'état cambial pour la période étudiée. Ils soulignent l'importance de combiner ensemble les paramètres cambiaux, phénologiques et climatiques.

Mots clés: Cambium, Phénologie, Forêts tropicales, Bassin du Congo, Yangambi, Biologie du bois, Carbone

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Context	1
	1.2	Wood formation and cambial dynamics	2
		1.2.1 Structure and wood formation	2
		1.2.2 Control and rhytmicity of cambial activity	4
		1.2.3 Studying xylogenesis and cambial activity	5
	1.3	Research questions	6
	1.4	Objectives	6
	1.5	Contributions and outline	7
2	Mat	terial and methods	8
	2.1	Study site	8
	2.2	Studied species	9
	2.3	Processing of micro-cores	13
		2.3.1 Sampling strategy	13
		2.3.2 Conservation and transformation of micro-cores	13
		2.3.3 Preparation of anatomical sections	14
		2.3.4 Cambial analysis	15
	2.4	Growth rings analysis	16
	2.5	Phenological data	16
	2.6	Climate data	16
	2.7	Analysis of relationships between cambial phenology and climate seasonality	17
3	Res	ults	18
	3.1	Data of specimen	18
	3.2	Anatomy and tree ring distinctiveness	19
	3.3	Cambial data	25
		3.3.1 Summary of observations	39
	3.4	Phenological data	42
		3.4.1 At plot scale	42
		3.4.2 At forest scale	43
	3.5	Climate data	44
	3.6	Relation between climate parameters and cambial/leaf phenology	45
		3.6.1 Cambial and foliar phenology relation	45
		3.6.2 Cambial activity and climate relation	45
_			
4	Disc	cussions	48
	4.1	Cambial data	48
	4.2	Phenological data	50
	4.3	Relation between climate parameters and cambial/foliar phenology	50
		4.3.1 Variability of cambial and foliar phenology	50
		4.3.2 Cambial activity and climate	51
		4.3.3 Foliar phenology and climate	52
5	Con	clusion and perspectives	54
	5.1	Conclusion	54
	5.2	Perspectives	54
6	App	pendices	63

List of Figures

1.1	Cambium and secondary tissues production
1.2	Scheme of developing radial file for tracheid cell
1.3	Micro-coring process
2.1	Study site
2.2	Spiral scheme of micro-coring process
2.3	Preparation of micro-cores
2.4	Cambial zone measurements
3.1	Anatomical specimen of <i>L. thompsoniii</i> 19
3.2	Anatomical specimen of <i>P. oleosa</i>
3.3	Anatomical specimen of <i>P. macrocarpus</i>
3.4	Anatomical specimen of <i>S. zenkeri</i> 22
3.5	Anatomical specimen of <i>S. subcordatum</i> 23
3.6	Anatomical specimen of <i>T. madagascariense</i>
3.7	Cross-sections of L . thompsoniii $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
3.8	Measurements taken on CZ for <i>L. thompsonii</i>
3.9	Cross-sections of cambial zone of <i>P. oleosa</i>
3.10	Measurements taken on cambial zone of <i>P. oleosa</i>
3.11	Cross-sections of cambial zone of <i>P. macrocarpus</i>
3.12	Measurements take on CZ of <i>P. macrocarpus</i> 32
3.13	Cross-sections of cambial zone of S. zenkeri 34
3.14	Measurements taken on CZ of S. zenkeri
3.15	Cross-sections of CZ of S.synsepalum
3.16	Measurements taken on CZ of S. subcordatum
3.17	Cross-sections on CZ of <i>T. madagascariense</i>
3.18	Measurements on CZ of <i>T. madagascariense</i>
3.19	Cambial growth and phenoly rythms of studied species
3.20	Foliar phenology at plot scale
3.21	Foliar phenology at forest scale
3.22	Climate data of the study period
6.1	Dawkin index
6.2	Results of PCA
6.3	Cross-sections of G. suaveolens
6.4	Cross-sections of bark for 5 species

List of Tables

2.1	Description of selected species	10
2.2	Dehydration stages and paraffin infiltration steps	14
2.3	Clearing, coloration and dehydration steps	15
3.1	Summary of specimen's data	18
3.2	Summary of characteristics of ring transition for 6 species of Yangambi forest at macro-	
	scopic and microscopic level.	40
3.3	Data and measurements of cambial zone elements for monitored species	40
3.4	Cambial status and leaf phenology of studied species	45
3.5	Summaries of linear mixed model analyses of the relationships between cambial activity	
	and climate taking into account the randomness of individuals (M1)	46
3.6	Results of the ANOVA tests performed between the different regression models	46
3.7	Speaman correlation indices	47
6.1	Goodness-of-fit of linear mixed model analyses of the relationships between cambial	
	activity and climate parameters taking into account the randomness of individuals (M3)	66

List of abbreviations

AIC	Akaike information criterion
CZ	Cambial zone
DIC	Differential interference contrast
DRC	Democratic Republic of Congo
ΕZ	Enlargement zone
LZ	Lignification zone
MAB	Man and Biosphere
magn.	magnification
Ph	Phloem
RMAC	Royal Museum for Central Africa
TZ	Thickening zone

1 Introduction

1.1 Context

Forests cover about 31% of the earth's surface, and more specifically, tropical forests represent 45 % of the world's forest cover [1]. The forest as a whole contributes to many services of all kinds. They participate in the regulation of natural cycles such as water, air and soil quality regulation [2]. They support livelihoods for humans by providing food and materials; and shelter up to 80% of world's biodiversity [3]. In addition, tropical forests largely contribute to climate regulation by sequestering CO2 from the atmosphere [4].

However, major challenges are related to tropical forest management. Indeed, many threats, such as deforestation [5] and rising anthropogenic pressure [6], will weaken these ecosystems, altering services they provide [7]. As a result of climate change, we expect to observe increased dry periods and temperatures in the tropics, which will also alter dynamics of tropical forests [8].

In this context, it is paramount to find appropriate solutions for forest management and conservation on the long term. But first, we need to understand and characterise the processes of forest dynamics [9] and identify mechanisms that may change their functioning and productivity. One process of forest' dynamic is the vegetation growth which depends, in other parts, on its ability to sequester carbon in woody material. Carbon fixation into vegetation occurs during wood and bark formation through the photosynthesis process [10]. During wood formation or xylogenesis, carbon is fixed into woody materials within the newly cell walls generated by the cambium [11]. On the other hand, carbon is also used for production of leaves, flowers and fruits [12]. Thus, these processes are key elements on the understanding of carbon sequestration and forest dynamics [13].

Furthermore, as cambial and foliar phenology adopt an annual or multiannual rhythmicity over seasons [14, 15, 16], it is relevant to study these processes over time. In fact, monitoring cambial activity and phenological rhythmicity is relevant to understand carbon storage process, characterise periods when trees are forming xylem during the season and to identify factors that control it [17, 18, 19, 20]. Furthermore, foliar phenology is a good proxy for monitoring the response of vegetation to local conditions [21]. However, both endogenous and exogenous factors have been shown to influence cambial and phenological activities affecting tree growth [22, 23, 24]. For instance, the extent and the growth vegetation period are affected by climate factors [20, 25]. Likewise, relative humidity plays a role in the phenomenon of seasonal variation in trunk circumference [26]. Conversely, wood formation can be strongly influenced by tree phenology [27]. Hence the importance of characterising the wood formation process and comparing the two approaches. Unfortunately, little precision exists to explain the possible relationships between phenology and cambial activity in tropical trees [28]. This obliges us to study them precisely on a species-by-species or even tree-by-tree basis and try to identify factors that can affect the phenological rhythms.

The forests of the Congo Basin constitute the second largest forest in the world within 126 million hectares of forest are located in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) [1]. Even if the Congo Basin forests shelter a large part of the world's biodiversity and millions of people depend directly or indirectly of them [29, 30], they do not escape the current threats. More specifically, these forests provide both ecological, economic and social services [30]. This is the case for Man and Biosphere Reserves (MAB) present in the DRC and more precisely in Yangambi [31]. Furthermore, we assume that 25% of the 247 Gt carbon sequestered in the world's forests is stored in sub-Saharan Africa. [32]. Paradoxically, forest of Africa present the largest net area loss and present the most important rate of deforestation in the world [1] with DRC being the second country with the highest annual loss of forest area. African forest management issues are thus global challenges to which solutions are to be found.

Unfortunately, major obstacles prevent on easily understand dynamics and working of tropical forests and more specifically forest of the Congo Basin. Even though, numerous studies have been progressively carried out in recent years, they mainly focus on South and Central America or Asian rainforests ecosystems [33]. Furthermore, the lack of information on local climate and environmental data for the tropical environments is observed. This hinders a proper assessment of the response of vegetation to climate evolution [21]. On the other hand, tropical environments are more complex to study than temperate ones due to their species diversity, structure and forest composition [34].

The forests of the DRC are a good example of this complexity. In particular, numerous studies have contributed to the understanding of vegetation growth and dynamics in the Mayombe forest. Researches address data about inter-annual wood formation [35], links between foliar phenology and climate influence [15], cambial growth seasonality in Africa [36] or about the relation between cambial activity and foliar phenology [37]. Unlike other sites in DRC, the phenology, community dynamics and growth remain unknown for Yangambi and Thsopo province in general. Nevertheless, the forest formation and the particular species composition of this forest, is intimacy related to particular ecological, edaphic and climate conditions. In semi-deciduous forests of Yangambi forests, both species are found with a distinct deciduous, semi-deciduous and evergreen temperament [38]. Yangambi presents a low seasonality, thus inter-species variation in leaf phenology, and hypothetically variation in cambial activity during the seasonal transition, can therefore be expected [39]. But this requires a thorough study of the ecology and local climate of these forests.

Even though researches on dendrochronology and ecology have been carried out in the context of Yangambi, they are only focusing on particular species such as *Pericopsis elata* (Harms) Meuwen. This species has been the subject of numerous studies, notably about the relationship between cambial activity and individual tree growth [40], but also on its ecology in the local context [41]. Other studies on the subject have focused on the impact of rainfall on growth of trees [40]. However, studies about the cambial activity, wood anatomy, the influence of seasonality on vegetation growth, ecology and phenology remain rare for a lot of abundant species from the forest in the wider Yangambi region.

1.2 Wood formation and cambial dynamics

1.2.1 Structure and wood formation

a. Wood structure and wood anatomy

Structure and composition of the phloem and the xylem of Angiosperms are complex, forming heterogenous tissues [10]. It consists of a multitude of cells with different functions, shapes and chemical compositions. In tropical woods, 3 main types of cells can be found. (i) Fibres which have a supporting role thanks to their cell wall, whose thickness and composition vary according to the stage of development. The immature fibres are surrounded by a thin non-lignified wall. During maturation, this wall is thickened and lignified until a mature fibre is observed. (ii) Parenchyma cells are composed by a single wall, mostly lignified, which fulfil several roles such as transport, water or starch storage and mechanical functions. They can be radially or axially oriented and adopt a complex network form along the xylem. For many tropical species, paratracheal axial parenchyma can be observed [42]. In tropical species, marginal parenchyma bands can delineate tree growth rings [43]. They largely participate in water and carbohydrate derivatives storage [44]. (iii) Vessel's elements form a more or less dense network which plays a role in the transport of water. The specialisation into these 3 cell types takes place during xylogenesis, a process that allows the transition from an immature cell to a mature cell that, as a result of physical and chemical changes, can fulfil its function [45]. Consequently, characterisation of the stage of cell development of wood or phloem can be distinguished both by anatomical and chemical differences.

b. Xylogenesis and cambium

Wood formation or xylogenesis results from the activity and the differentiation of a layer of undifferentiated meristematic cells called cambium that will mainly specialized into fibres, parenchyma or vessels [46]. Periclinal division and longitudinal division of these cells occur which increase the diameter and the height of stems, respectively. The cambial zone is composed of three cell types: the cambial layer, the phloem and xylem mother cells being produced by cambium [47]. The cells of the cambial zone divide themselves by producing both secondary xylem and phloem (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: Cambium and secondary tissues production. Taken from: Lachaud (1999) [47]

The mother cells are composed by two types of cells. The initial fusiform cells are often narrow, elongated for a diameter between 5 and 8 μ m with a thin wall (<0,1 μ m). The short radial ones measure until 40 μ m [47]. They respectively create conducting cells, such as phloem and xylem, and create ray parenchyma. Most of the time, the shape and size of cells are good characteristics to identify the cambial zone. Thus, it enables scientists to observe them in cross-sections thanks to microscopy tools.

In the secondary xylem, wood formation can be resumed in four successive stages (Figure 1.2). The first stage is the production of new cells from the undifferentiated cells of the cambial zone. The second stage is the enlargement phase in which cells start to grow in a radial section. The third stage is the thickening of the cell wall, including the creation of a secondary wall for fibre cells. The fourth stage is lignification, which results from a chemical change in the composition of the cell wall through the deposition of lignin [48]. Wall thickening and the lignification are determinant for carbon sequestration by vegetation [48, 46]. An added phase is the programmed cell death [49].



Figure 1.2: Scheme of developing radial file for tracheid cell. I Phloem cell, II-IV Dividing cambial cell, V Enlarging cell, VI-VII Thickening cells and VIII Mature cell. Taken from: Rathgeber et al. (2016)[10]

1.2.2 Control and rhytmicity of cambial activity

Cell formation is intimately linked to the rhythmicity of cambial activity. It is important to notice that many factors can affect the dynamics of cambial layers, such as environmental or genetic factors.

In temperate forests, cambial activity is mainly affected by seasonality [19, 50]. Although, seasonality is less marked than in temperate environment, climate parameters still affect both cambial and leaf phenology in tropical rainforests. Therefore, there is a variable periodicity of tree growth during the year [28]. Moreover, at a macroscopic point of view, the appearance of rings in the wood results from alternating cambial activity which itself is regulated by endogenous or exogenous factors [51]. These factors create favourable or unfavourable conditions for tree growth. Furthermore, growth can also vary from a year to year, implying indistinctness of annual tree-ring boundaries within species [52, 53]. Consequently, there is still significant variability in the interpretation of tree rings boundaries [53].

At the microscopic level, the number of cells produced at each stage and present in cambial zone, as well as their shape and the ratio between the different parts, vary between species, depending on environmental conditions or genetic variability between individuals [54, 37]. However, some characteristics allow to determine the dormancy or the activity of cambium that will be described here below.

Climate-growth relation

The relationship between climate and leaf and cambial phenology has been the subject of much researches. However, these studies are mostly concerned with semi-deciduous or deciduous species, especially in contrasting climates. Many studies have highlighted the importance of rainfall on cambial growth, with cambial dormancy often initiated by a period of drought [55, 56]. Temperature can also alter the rythmicity of cambium, it is particularly true under temperate climate [57]. Other parameters can also influence cycle of growth such as relative humidity, insolation index or day length [58]. In contrast, growth patterns and phenologies are much less well known for evergreen tropical species, especially in climates with little seasonality. As Pandey said, combining anatomical study and environmental changes provide physiological explanations for the adaptation process and response strategies of tree growth to climate [59].

1.2.3 Studying xylogenesis and cambial activity

This strong dependence of cambial activity, and thus of wood formation, on climate conditions, underlines the importance of conducting a study over multiple intervals during the season. Studying periodicity of tree growth can be addressed in different approaches that do not provide the same level of accuracy depending on the information sought [60]. Furthermore, wood formation can be approached from inter-annual or intra-annual perspectives. Their common interest is to characterise the periods of vegetation growth, and to relate them to the evolution of climate, edaphic or ecological parameters.

The study of tree rings on an annual scale is sometimes insufficient to understand the rhythmicity of tree growth. However, dendrochronology focuses on the evolution and rhythmicity of wood formation and cambial activity on a period ranging from several years to the entire life of a tree. This approach can be used either by collecting of whole wood cores [61] or by collecting of disks [62, 63]. In tropical regions this is not evident due to several ring anomalies [35]. A new approach combining photogrammetry, high resolution image processing, and GIS tools are now also used in dendrochronological studies [64].

Moreover, other non-destructive techniques focus on stem growth in diameter. This is the case of band and electric radius dendrometers, which are chosen to collect data on diameter variation over several months or years [65, 66]. The second is more suitable in the case of the study at an intra-annual level.

To study of the cambial zone, it is sometimes necessary to reduce the study period during the growing season if known. This intra-annual perspective is well adapted to trace the cambial activity by measuring the radial increment. It often requires microscopic in-depth studies. Depending on the approach chosen, data are either relative or punctual. In the first case, the cambium has to be marked or injured. For instance, pinning is a technique based on assessing the reaction of cambium to an external impact [67]. In the second case, the measurements provide the state of the cambium in real time. In contrast to the other methods, punctual observations are not delayed results. Consequently, measurements must be repeated over several months to consider the evolution of cambial activity. Formerly, a technique involved rectangular samples of wood and bark together "Mariaux windows", but this work was laborious and invasive for the stem [63]. Nowadays, the most suitable way to quantify and characterise cambial activity is the micro-coring method.

Micro-coring process

During micro-coring, small samples of 2 mm diameter are taken at regular intervals in the cambial zone using a Trephor (Figure 1.3)[18]. The micro-cores are preserved in an alcohol solution before being dehydrated to obtain histological sections. This sampling method is easy and less invasive [17] compared to pinning and Mariaux windows. The samples must be well oriented to the transversal plane, in order to observe the elements of the cell structure.



Figure 1.3: Micro-coring process. From the left to the right: (I) insertion of trephor with a hammer (ii) inserted micro-core ready for extraction (iii) extracting the micro-core from the trephor device (iv) trephor with micro-core showing the xylem (white tissue) and bark (darker tissue) from a *Panda oleosa* tree.

Micro-sections

After micro-coring, samples are processed into micro-sections thanks to microtomy techniques. Thin sections allow an assessment of the cambial activity through microscopic analysis of the wood formation by observing them under light of microscope. Especially the width of the zone showing cell differentiation, between the cambium and the fully lignified mature wood, is considered as an indication of cambial activity in broadleaf species.

1.3 Research questions

Following research questions were tackled:

- What is the wood anatomy of the species at the ring transition? And what is the anatomy of the cambial zone of each species over the study period?
- Can dormancy or cambium activity be observed during the study period? If so, when does it begin?
- Is there a synchronicity between cambial activity and leaf development for deciduous species?
- Is there a synchronicity between cambial activity and flowering or fructification?
- Is the trend of phenological process at the level of study plots follow the same trend than at the level of the entire stand?
- How cambial activity is related to exogenous factors (Temperature, rainfall, brightness, relative humidity)? In which range and when are they affect this activity?
- How foliar phenology processes are they affected by exogenous factors (Temperature, rainfall, brightness and relative humidity)?
- How can cambial activity, phenology processes and exogenous factors be related?

1.4 Objectives

The first objective is to describe wood anatomy of growth ring transition and of cambial zone at the study time for species. A first sub-objective is to characterise the ring transition from samples from RMCA. A second sub-objective is to identify cambial dormancy or activity for species of interest by using micro-coring processing. After identifying species for which micro-coring can be conducted, characterisation of cambium can be carried out by a microscopic approach. Then, if possible, Then, if possible, a quantitative assessment of the cambial zone is carried out. The second objective is to characterise foliar phenology of monitored stems at two scales. One at individual scale, thanks to visual assessment with binoculars. One at stand scale, through the use up of two autonomous

Wingscape timelapse cameras. Then results about cambial and leaf phenology can be related along a time axis. The third objective is to characterise the evolution of climate parameters within the seasonal transition by identifying major factors that may influence both foliar phenology and cambial processes.

1.5 Contributions and outline

The novelty of this work is the exploration of the cambial and foliar phenologies in relation to climate for brevi-deciduous and evergreen species of tropical forest under a climate with low seasonality. This aims at describing wood biology for tree species thanks to micro-coring process. This master thesis participates in the comprehension of cambium status and foliar phenology of 6 tree species over the seasonal transition between the dry season and the small rainy one. It tends to fill the blank left in literature about cambial activity for these species from tropical humid forest of Central Africa. Personal involvements in this work are the collection and processing of micro-cores at Yangambi, the collection of phenological data and their post-processing and microscopic analysis at the RMCA, followed by writing this work.

This present work is divided in 4 parts. The first part deals with the materials and methods used in the collection and processing of data. The second part presents synthetically results obtained from the different data sets. The third part is devoted to the discussion and comparison of the result. The last part proposes several ways to continue the study.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Study site

Data were collected into the Yangambi Biosphere Reserve (0°46'N -24°29'E) which is located in the Tshopo province in the north-east of the Democratic Republic of Congo (Figure 2.1A). The climate is Af equatorial [68], characterised by two dry seasons and two rainy seasons. Precipitation is well distributed over the year. Consequently, dry seasons aren't really marked (Figure 2.1C). However, minima of pluviometry occur just after the two solstices [69]. Annual rainfall reaches 1800mm and the average annual temperature is 24,9°C (Figure 2.1C).

This reserve covers 235 000 ha of forest around the locality of Yangambi, which has been included in UNESCO's Man and the Biosphere (MAB) program since 1976 (Figure 2.1A). It is home to various endangered animals such as *Loxodanta africana cyclotis*, etc hence the importance of its preservation. Moreover, there are different woody botanical families of which the most abundant are the Fabaceae, Euphorbiaceae, Aracaceae et Malvaceae [38]. The Yangambi forest can be characterised as a semi-evergreen forest both species are found with a distinct deciduous, semi-deciduous and evergreen temperament [38]. Indeed, a diversity of forest patches is found, with old growth forests reverting to *Gilbertiodendron dewevrei* mono-dominant evergreen forests and semi-deciduous mixed forets. But there are also deforested areas with varying gradients of reforestation [70].

This study focuses on two permanent sample plots MIX 3 and MIX4 from the COBIMFO project [71])¹ (Figure 2.1B). These two plots of 1ha each are us as permanent devices since 2010 for monitoring plant biology. Their stands are mature mixed forests with abundance of *Scorodophloeus zenkeri*. In 2020, the average diameter at body height (DBH>20cm), of the 11 species present within the plots, ranged 32,4cm, the basal area was of 20,28 m²/ha for 208 trees and 17,48 m²/ha for 147 trees in MIX3 and MIX4, respectively. A sample collection campaign was carried out there. In addition, *Wingscape* timelaps cameras have been installed on the fluxtower from the CONGOFLUX project² located into the Yangambi forest.

¹COBIMFO project (Congo Basin integrated monitoring for forest carbon mitigation and biodiversity; contract no. SD/AR/01A) and funded by the Belgian Science Policy Office (Belspo).

²https://www.ugent.be/bw/gct/en/research/isofys/projects/yps-congoflux



Figure 2.1: (A) Location of Man and Biosphere (MAB) of Yangambi. Source: Cifor (2022). (B) Location of plots Mix3 and Mix4 in Yangambi site (green arrows). (C) Walter and Lieth Diagram of Yangambi over from 1960 to 2016. The red line represents the mean monthly temperature, the blue line represents the mean monthly precipitations. The humid period is represented by vertical hatching. The very wet periods are represented by solid blue area. In this case, the scale is increased from 2 mm/(sba)C to 20 mm/(sba)C. Source: Table based on data from INERA Yangambi's Agroclimatology Department (2017).

2.2 Studied species

The selection of species was based on a list previously established on the two monitored mature forest plots MIX3 and MIX4 (Figure 2.1B). They are among the 70% most abundant species, in terms of average basal area and number of stems, in these plots. Further information such as diameter at body height (DBH), species, height, position are known for the year 2020.

The selection of both individuals and species for micro-coring was performed on the basis on a field prospection, and the health of the stems encountered. Initially, a total of 8 species were selected, for each of which 3 average individuals were monitored (Table 2.1). After the first collection of micro-cores on 05 March, *Trilepisium madagascariense* and *Synsepalum subcordatum* were added. The selection of individuals was based on the average DBH of the species, the health status of the individuals and

the conformation of stems (straightness, cylindricity of the stem and ease of taking entire microcores). Furthermore, the selected individuals are contained within the same diameter class, close to the average DBH referenced in the list.

Leplaeae thompsonii EJ.M. Koenen & J.J. de Wilde							
	Vernacular appellation ⁽³⁾ : Bossé foncé, Guarea noir (Trade) Family: Meliaceae Temperament: Evergreen Light demanding ⁽⁶⁾ : sciaphilous when young and needs light when growing Habitat and ecology ⁽⁷⁾ : lowland evergreen rainforests, usually primary forests. Phenology ⁽⁵⁾ : Fruits: Jul. Flowers: NA Leaf senescence: NA						
	Panda oleosa Pierre						
		Vernacular appellation ⁽³⁾ : Afan(e) (Gabon), Afam (Cameroun), Bokale (DRC), Mahula (Kisangani, DRC) Family: Pandaceae Temperament: Evergreen Light demanding ⁽²⁾ : shade tolerant Habitat and ecology ⁽²⁾ : semi- deciduous and evergreen forests Phenology ⁽⁵⁾ : Fruits: May to Feb.					
Taxos Detablish New COLINE Down							

Table 2.1: Description of selected species



Image: constraints of the constraint of the constrain							
(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2	Trilepisium madagascariense Thouars ex DC.						
Feb., March Leaf senescence: Feb. Greenwayodendron suaveolens Engl. & Diels Vernacular appellation ⁽³⁾ : Otunga (Gabon), Otungui (Cameroon), Moamba ndombe (Luki, DRC), Dolindu (Kisangani, DRC) (4) (4) Temperament: mostly evergreen Habitat and ecology ⁽⁴⁾ : Moist evergreen and semi-deciduous lowland and mid-altitude 30–1600 m in forests. Temperament: (b):		Vernacular appellation ⁽³⁾ : Bonge (RDC), Bonke (RDC), Bofonge (DRC), Béhio (Gabon), Fongi (Cameroon) ⁽²⁾ Family: Moraceae Temperament: Deciduous Habitat and ecology ⁽⁸⁾ : primary or secondary forests in regions with evergreen or semi- deciduous forests; moist forest Phenology ⁽⁵⁾ : Fruits: March to May, Sep. to Dec. Flowers: June, Jul., Sept. to Nov.,					
Image: Constraint of the second of the se		Feb., March					
Greenwayodendron suaveolens Engl. & Diels (1) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (5) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (5) (4) (5) (4) (5) (4) (5) (5) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (2) (2) (2) (3) (2) (2) (2) (3) (2) (2) (2) (3) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2		Lear senescence. Feb.					
(1) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4	Greenwayodendron suaveolens Er	ngl. & Diels					
Phenology (*):	(1)	Vernacular appellation ⁽³⁾ : Otunga (Gabon), Otungui (Cameroon), Moamba ndombe (Luki, DRC), Dolindu (Kisangani, DRC) Family: Annonaceae Temperament: mostly evergreen Habitat and ecology ⁽⁴⁾ : Moist evergreen and semi-deciduous lowland and mid-altitude 30–1600 m in forests. Phenology ⁽⁵⁾ :					

Figure 10. Greenwayoudendrow statevelous. A Habit B Flower C Fruits and monocarps D La section of one monocarp showing ruminate endosperm of seeds. Photos: TLP Couvreur.

Flowers: Feb. to Apr. Leaf senescence: Oct.



<u>References:</u> (1) ("Botanical Collections," August-3-2022) (2) Les arbres utiles du Gabon (Meunier et al., 2015) (3) ("Tervuren Xylarium Wood Database | Musée royal de l'Afrique centrale - Tervuren -Belgique," June-3-2022) (4) (Lissambou et al., 2018) (5) < junglerhythms.org > (6) (GILBERT, 1952) (7) ("PROTA4U," June-22-2022) (8) ("African Plant Database", June-18-2022)

Various information on each monitored individual are collected such as species, DBH, bark thickness, and geographical coordinates. In order to assess the vegetation competition of the monitored individuals, the Crown Illumination Index (CII) developed by Dawkins and Field [72] was also visually assessed (Appendice 6.1).

2.3 Processing of micro-cores

The various stages of micro-core preparation are designed to produce microsections useful for characterising the cambial zone. This preparation starts with the collection of samples and ends with histological sections that can be observed under the light microscope.

2.3.1 Sampling strategy

Samples collection was carried out in 4 times, covering the seasonal transition between the dry season and the small rainy season (from February to April 2022). Data were collected at 2-week intervals on 5 March (A), 18 March (B), 1 April (C) and 15 April (D) respectively. An additional collection was carried out the 29 April. A Trephor was used with a hammer to collect the micro-cores [17, 18] (Figure 2.3). These samples were stored in Eppendorf tubs filled with 50-% ethanol. Each tube was coded with date, species, sample number and individual.

Micro-cores collection started at 2 meters from the ground. 3 samples per individual were collected vertically and spaced 10cm apart to avoid wounding effects from previous sampling. The whole collection followed a spiral pattern, oriented northwards and then clockwise (Figure 2.2). Bark was removed for species with at least 1 cm of thickness.



Figure 2.2: Spiral scheme of micro-cores collection with from the first to the fourth collection (red arrow heads)

2.3.2 Conservation and transformation of micro-cores

Firstly, 2 samples per individual were preserved in Formalin Aceto-Alcohol (FAA) solution for 4 days, the third sample was kept in a 50% ethanol solution. After observing the first results obtained, any difference was noticed between the samples stored in FAA and ethanol. It was therefore decided to giving up the immersion of the micro-cores in the FAA solution whose handling is harmful to health.

The entire sampling process has been realised in Yangambi woodbiology lab. After, conducting the first analysis on the histological sections, the quality of obtained results was not always sufficient to conclude of the activity of the cambium. Different reasons can explain this situation. The most likely reason is the use of undistilled water during the successive bath process (Table 2.2). Therefore, it was

decided to reiterate the process of micro-cores in Tervuren woodbiology lab on the control samples. Then, part of the bark and wood were removed to only conserve the cambial area whose cross-section is marked by a line (Figures 2.3A and B). Finally, samples are placed into microcassettes which were successively immersed in different dehydration baths (Table 2.2) and two baths of paraffin at 60°C (Table 2.2)(Figure 2.3C). The passage through the baths was done manually and with the automatic STP 120 Spin Tissue processor, in Yangambi and Tervuren, respectively. Paraffin blocks are shaped into micro-cores oriented on the cross-section (Figure 2.3D).



Figure 2.3: Preparation steps of micro-cores. (A) Entire sample as taken from the tree (B) Cutting of zone of interest (e.i. cambial zone) (C) Microcasette (D) Embedded sample in paraffin block.

Table 2.2: Dehydration stages and paraffin infiltration steps adapted from (Prislan et al., 2014)[73]

Dehydratation steps						
Solution Immersion lasting (hours)						
Ethanol (50-%)	2					
Ethanol (75-%)	2					
Ethanol (96-%)	2					
Ethanol (100-%)	A night					

Paraffin infiltration steps								
Solution in Yangambi lab Solution in Tervuren lab Immersion lasting (hour								
UltraClear	Histoclear	1,30						
UltraClear	Histoclear	1,30						
Paraffine 1 (60°C)	Paraffine 1 $(60^{\circ}C)$	1,30						
Paraffine 2 $(60^{\circ}C)$	Paraffine 2 $(60^{\circ}C)$	1,30						

2.3.3 Preparation of anatomical sections

When the paraffin is cured, the sections of 10 to 14μ m thick can be cut with the Leica RM 2235 rotary microtome. Due to the fragility of samples, several sections were obtained by affixing sticky paper to the core. This method was only used at Yangambi lab. These resulting sections were glued to a glass surface with heated albumin. Then slides were heated few minutes in order to ensure the adhesion between the different components.

The whole process includes cleaning the paraffine with UltraClear or HistoClear solution, dehydration with ethanol solutions at different concentrations and a staining phase. A mixture of Alcian Blue and Safranin was used, which bind to cellulose and lignin, respectively. Finally, the samples are fixed between slides and coverslips with Euparal (Table 2.3).

Table 2.3:	Clearing,	$\operatorname{coloration}$	and	dehydration	steps at	Yangambi	and	Tervuren	labs	adapted	from	(Prislan	et al.,
2014)[73]													

Solution in Yangambi lab	Solution in Tervuren lab	Immersion lasting (minutes)
UltraClear	Histoclear	6
UltraClear	Histoclear	6
UltraClear	Histoclear	6
Ethanol 100-%	Ethanol 100-%	3
Mix Blue alcian and Safranine	Mix Blue alcian and Safranine	3
Water	Distilled water	Few seconds
Ethanol $50-\%$	Ethanol $50-\%$	3
Ethanol 70- $\%$	Ethanol 70-%	3
Ethanol 96-%	Ethanol 96-%	3
Ethanol 100-%	Ethanol 100-%	3

2.3.4 Cambial analysis

A combination of different microscopic tools provides complementary information about microsections. Firstly, microsections have been observed under BX60 transmission light microscope. Although staining of microsections is useful to detect lignification of cells or other elements, sometimes it is not well performed, making observations much more complicated to make. In this case, a BX60 epifluorescence microscope used in combination with a mercury lamp and filter (Olympus U-UCV, a barrier filter 420nm and a dichromatic mirror 400 nm) is the best tool to detect the autofluorescence of lignin present in the mature wood or bark tissues, by increasing the contrast between unlignified and lignified cells. It is also useful for detecting starch deposits, or other residues or crystals. Whereas with epifluorescence it is sometimes difficult to assess wall lignification, especially when the walls are thick but not lignified, differential interference contrast microscopy (DIC) U-DICT filter add on transmission microscope can be used in order to highlight tissues in lignification. In summary, epifluorescence is relevant when the cambium is dormant, whereas the DIC filter allows better characterisation of the evolution of developing cells.

Images of microsections have been taken by connecting a camera (Olympus UC30, U-TV0.5XC-3) to microscope. These data have been collected using to Toupiew® and CellBe® softwares. Different magnifications, from 4x to 40x, are used covering different levels of accuracy. Histological characterisation could be made thanks to ImageJ ® software.

Firstly, the identification of the cambial zone, the wood zone, and the bark zone are performed at a finer magnification, achieving both by the staining, the size and shape of cells. When cambial activity is detected, enlargement zone, thickening zone, and the lignification zone are sometimes observable thanks to epifluorescence and DIC filter. Secondly, description of wood anatomy has been performed at higher resolution. Finally, for each microsection, the number of cells par radius, the size of cells and the width of the successive cambial zones (bark, cambial zone, enlargement zone, wall cell thickening, lignification zone and maturity zone) are mesured at least for 3 radii [17]. By repeating this protocol over several collections, it is possible to assess and quantify the evolution of cambial activity (Figure 2.4). All measurements were made manually with the ImageJ software. The average measurements made per radius were calculated, and then compiled by date, per individual and per species. These data were analysed in Rstudio 4.0.3 version software in order to conduct statistical tests. Anova and student test or Wilcoxon test (according to the condition of appliance) have been processed to assess the difference of means, either for number and size of cells, or for width of zone of interest between the collections for each individual and for each species. These tests and statistical tests such means and standard-deviation calculation for the different variables (average number cells, average size cells or average width of zone of interest) have been computed thanks to "gridExtra", "stats", "dplyr", "rstatix" packages on Rstudio.



Figure 2.4: On cross-section, cambial zone is located between bark and wood. Measurement of width zone of interest is made along a radial axis (double red arrow). The number of cells in this area is counted, and each cell is measured along the axis (black line).

2.4 Growth rings analysis

As the micro-cores were too short to assess the anatomy of the growth ring boundary (from previous rings), it was decided to study a larger sample to characterise this transition zone. This approach focuses on the macroscopic study of the rings transition anatomy. However, it is not sufficient to clearly assess the stage of development of the current growth ring. Microsections were therefore analysed. In fact, these analyses serve of reference to assess the progression of xylem growth according to its anatomical characteristics and to give us a clear idea how the ring structure is built for the given species. To achieve this goal, samples such as tree cores, disks or wood sanded blocks, issued from the wood collection of the RMCA have been considered. Images have been taken thanks an Olympus SZH10 stereomicroscope in association with an Olympus UC30 camera at different levels of magnification. These images have been studied within ImageJ software.

2.5 Phenological data

A monthly visual assessment of phenological traits was carried out at the level of the individuals monitored with binoculars. Firstly, a classification of foliar phenology such as old, new and young leaves was assessed. Secondly, the flowers present were monitored and differentiated according to their developmental status as young or old flowers. Finally, the fruits are classified into 2 categories: mature and immature. These visual assessments are given as a percentage, the total sum of all the elements being 100%. observations have all been realised by the same person at each data collection.

Data of the upper canopy were acquired daily with 2 autonomous phenocam Wingscape timelapse cameras every hour from 5:00 am to 4:00 pm from 18 March to 12 May 2022. This installation allows the characterisation of the phenophase and the identification of the phenological transition period of the canopy such as flowering, fructification, leaf development [74]. They were mounted on the Congoflux, facing northwest and southeast respectively. Only one camera provided images. 4 crowns were monitored at one month interval to characterise the evolution of the leaf composition.

2.6 Climate data

Meteorological parameters such as data on temperature, relative humidity, precipitation and insolation duration, have been registered from 1th February to the 20th May 2022, over a period of 120 days, at

the Km 5 climatological station of INERA Yangambi.

On the one hand, monthly averages were made to represent the main climate trends during the seasonal transition, from February to May. On the other hand, the mean values of the monitored climate variable based on two-weeks intervals before each date of sample collection have been computed on Rstudio. In order to summarize climate data and because these climate parameters are highly related, a principal component analysis (PCA) has been processed in R environment thanks to "corrplot", "FactoMineR", "factoextra" packages. This approach allows to identify a first principal axis that explained 52,32% of the variability observed over the study period. Indeed, several parameters, such as the sum of precipitation, mean precipitation and insolation lasting for the 5 considered intervals, present a significant correlation to this first axis. This axis separates hot and sunny days from colder days with cloudiness (Appendice 6.2).

2.7 Analysis of relationships between cambial phenology and climate seasonality

Three types relation have to be considered, between: cambial activity and climate, foliar phenology and climate, cambial activity and foliar phenology.

In order to explore the relation between climate parameters and cells production over time, a regressive approach was adopted. After studying, evolution of local climate parameters, and in order to better understand the growth-climate relationship, it was decided to use the synthetic climate variable derived from the PCA as the explanatory variable. This approach is adapted from the one adopted by H. Morel [75]. The evolution of the total number of cells in the development zone over the study period have been considered as variable to explain. As shown by the PCA, the variables average precipitation, cumulative precipitation and the exposure index are correlated to this axis, so it is their effect that will be measured by the regression. Indeed, as will be shown below, the temperature variables remain rather constant, unlike the rainfall, exposure and relative humidity variables.

As we can assume variability of the cambial state between individuals of the same species, a random factor has to be added to the equation both for the intercept but also for the slope of this regression line thanks to the equation $(1)(\mathbf{M1})$. As this approach remains theoretical and hypothetical, it is therefore necessary to evaluate whether this equation allows us to draw an acceptable conclusion with regard to our null hypothesis which is to evaluate whether climate, taking into account inter-individual variability, influences cell production. Thus, the model (M1) is compared with a theoretical null model that not taking into account the climate effect thanks to equation (2) (M0). Since, for some species, the variability between individuals can be less marked, a third model which does not take into account the randomness linked to the individual was carried out with the equation (3) (M2). Cambial activity, so total mean number of cells, has been log 10 transformed for linear mixed model in order to verify appliance conditions on residuals. In order to assess the quality of models to compare them together; AIC criterion, standard error around estimated parameters and also marginal and conditional R² or R² and adjusted R² have been computed. They are also compared 2 by 2 by ANOVA. The "Ime4" and "ImerTest" packages of Rstudio have been used.

$$\ln(cambial\ activity) \ \sim \ climate + (1 + climate|\ individual) \tag{1}$$

$$\ln(cambial \ activity) \ \sim \ (1| \ individual) \tag{2}$$

$$\ln(\text{cambial activity}) \sim \text{climate}$$
 (3)

3 Results

3.1 Data of specimen

The monitored individuals have varying heights of trunk between species, however it can be seen that access to light is not always linked with greater height as for the *S. zenkeri*. Although individuals of the same species have similar access to the light according to the Dawkin indexes, but they are slightly different between species.

Species	Average DBH (cm) (n=3)	IAverage timber height (m) (n=3)Average bark thickness (mm) (n=3)		Dawkin index	Average wood density mean $(g/cm3)^3$	
Leplaea thompsonii	$33,77 \pm 4,68$	$10,00 \pm 3,05$	$1,87 \pm 1,23$	2-3	0,58 (n=31)	
Panda oleosa	$46,33 \pm 11,36$	$9,20 \pm 2,85$	0.8 ± 0.3	3	0,57 (n=49)	
Petersianthus macrocarpus	$42,70 \pm 5,68$	$19,07 \pm 0,66$	$0,9\pm0,15$	5	0,65 (n=57)	
Scorodophloeus zenkeri	$39,03 \pm 8,30$	$8,20 \pm 2,00$	$0{,}63\pm0{,}13$	4	0,73 (n=77)	
Synsepalum subcordatum	$39,\!13 \pm 13,\!84$	$7,\!30 \pm 1,\!00$	$1,\!25\pm0,\!27$	3	0,75 (n=5)	
Trilepisium madagascarinese	$47,50 \pm 3,00$	$23,33 \pm 2,38$	$0,8\pm0,11$	5	0,53 (n=16)	
Greenwayodendron suaveolens	$48,93 \pm 11,87$	$20,07 \pm 2,82$	$1,27\pm0,33$	5	0,63 (n=27)	

Table 3.1: Summary of specimen's data with. n corresponds to the number of trees considered.

 $^{^{3}}$ Wood density data has been extracted from COBIMFO project (Congo Basin integrated monitoring for forest carbon mitigation and biodiversity; contract no. SD/AR/01A) and funded by the Belgian Science Policy Office (Belspo).

3.2 Anatomy and tree ring distinctiveness

a) Leplea thomposonii

This species has axial parenchyma in narrow bands from 2 to 3 cells thick, and confluent paratracheal axial parenchyma. Their fibres have intermediate wall thickness. The wood is diffuse-porous with vessels of diameter between 100 and 200 μ m. Histological sections show a lot of starch deposits within both ray and radial parenchyma cells (Figure 3.7).

Macroscopically, it is sometimes feasible to detect growth rings transition, noticed by the absence of axial parenchyma and vessels over several micrometres (Figures 3.1A and B). In the opposite, microscopically, rings are indistinct because they remain really rare (Figures 3.1C and D).



Figure 3.1: Anatomical specimen of *L. thompsoniii* (Tw_66740) under the stereomicroscope: the black arrows show the transition zone of growth rings in (A) and (B). Cross-sections of *L. thompsoniii* (Tw_63830) under light of microscope in (C) and (D). Microsections show indistinct rings.

b) Panda oleosa

P. oleosa has a particular bark structure with a large section of rounded cells whose walls are not lignified. This zone is adjacent to the cambial zone and to another part of the bark composed by lignified cells and sclerenchyma where many crystals are observed (Appendice 6.4A). The axial parenchyma is diffuse along the vessels, but the axial parenchyma also forms narrow bands of 3 cells wide and is scalariform (Figures 3.2B and C). The fibres have a thick cell wall. Numerous starch deposits are found within radial parenchyma cells for samples of this study (Figure 3.9).

Macroscopically, *P. oleosa* shows growth rings whose boundaries can sometimes be observed. The transition zone can be distinguished by less compact axial parenchyma (Figures 3.2A and B). Boundaries being barely distinct, these observations can be very difficult or impossible to make microscopically. Sometimes, the transition zone is composed of slightly axially flattened fibres (Figure 3.2D), without axial parenchyma (Figures 3.2B and C). After the discontinuity of axial parenchyma that occurs at the beginning of the new growth ring, the axial parenchyma becomes scalariform (Figure 3.2C).



Figure 3.2: Anatomical specimen of *P. oleosa* (Tw_63819) under the stereomicroscope: the black arrows show the transition zone of growth rings in (A) and (B). Cross-sections of *P. oleosa* (TW_69583) under light of microscope: the black arrows show the transition zone of growth rings at respectively in (C) and a black frame surrounds the whole zone where fibre cells are axially flattened in (D).

c) Petersianthus macrocarpus

P. macrocarpus has a particular bark structure with alternating non-lignified cells and lignified sclerenchyma. Crystals are also found within these cells (Appendice 6.4B). The fibres have a thick, lignified cell wall within the mature xylem. 2 types of axial parenchyma are noticed, the first is apotracheal and diffuse along the wood. The second is paratracheal and can be structured as vasicentric, lozenge and winged aliform parenchyma, and variably confluent. Numerous starch deposits are found within parenchyma cells during the study period.

Macroscopically, ring distinctness is not always evident. Sometimes, the axial parenchyma seems to be less present, forming bands of xylem devoid from parenchyma (Figure 3.3A). In addition, at higher magnification, a thin continuous line of marginal parenchyma appeared. At microscopic level, growth rings are indistinct or absent. However, slightly axially flattened fibres can sometimes be seen adjacent to a small band of parenchyma cells (Figures 3.3C and D). In this case, discontinued bands of 1 or 2 cells width are observed adjacent to these fibres.



Figure 3.3: Anatomical specimen of *P. macrocarpus* (Tw_32722) under stereomicroscope the black arrows show the limits of rings (A) and white arrows show the limits of rings (B). Cross-sections of *P. macrocarpus* (Tw_9407) under light of microscope: the black arrows show the transition zone of growth rings (C) and black frame surrounds the entire zone where fibres are axially flattened (D). Red arrows show discontinuous bands of axial parenchyma cells (C) and (D).

d) Scorodophloeus zenkeri

S. zenkeri has a characteristic bark structure with zones of lignified sclerenchyma and progressively lignified intercellular walls as one moves away from the cambial zone (Appendice 6.4C). This species includes a diffuse-in-aggregates apotracheal axial parenchyma. There is also a sparse vasicentric para-tracheal axial parenchyma and scanty, which is also confluent. Banded parenchyma is present in narrow bands of 3 cells and in marginal bands. Fibre cells have a thick wall.

At macroscopic level, wedging rings are observed for *S. zenkeri* (Figure 3.4A). Growth rings are distinguishable by a very thin band of thickened fibres (Figures 3.4B and C). Microscopic analysis is required to clearly identify these cells, although it is rarely possible to identify the boundaries of growth rings. Microsections show a region of about 4 fibre cells, which are radially flattened (Figures 3.4D and E). Instead of a mean fibre of xylem of 11,2 μ m wide, these flattened cells measured 4,83 μ m wide.



Figure 3.4: Anatomical specimen of S. zenkeri (Tw_41199) under stereomicroscope: the black arrows show the limits of rings (A) and black circle shows the joint of wedging rings (A), the black arrows show the limits of rings (B) and (C). Cross-sections of S. zenkeri (Tw_69459) under light of microscope, the black arrows show the transition zone of growth ring (D), and black frame surrounds the entire zone where fibre cells are axially flattened (E).

e) Synsepalum subcordatum

S. subcordatum has a bark with thin bands of lignified sclerenchyma in a matrix of rounded, unlignified cells, increasingly lignified as one moves away from the cambial zone lignified as one moves away from the cambial zone (Appendice 6.4D). Fibres of the xylem have a thick wall; they surround vessel elements. The axial parenchyma forms narrow bands of 3 cells wide, this parenchyma is also reticulated. Numerous starch deposits are found within cells of the axial parenchyma (Figure 3.15).

Macroscopically, the transitions between growth rings are visible. In these areas, the axial parenchyma is absent for several micrometres, forming a long band of xylem without large reticulated parenchyma band (Figure 3.5A). It is worth noticing that thin bands of marginal parenchyma also appear by using a higher magnification (Figure 3.5B), although this is less obvious at the microscopic level (Figures 3.5C and D).



Figure 3.5: Anatomical specimen of S. subcordatum (Tw_1150) under stereomicroscope: black arrows show the limits of rings in (A) and black arrows show the limits of rings in (B). Cross-sections of S. subcordatum (Tw_1750) under light of microscope: black arrows show the transition zone of growth ring in (C) and (D).

f) Trilepisium madagascariense

T. madagascariense has a bark composed by rounded cells full of gums, crystals or lignified elements (Appendice 6.4E). The xylem contains apotracheal axial parenchyma, and different types of paratracheal axial parenchyma. There is axial parenchyma, scanty paratracheal and sometimes vasicentric parenchyma. This axial parenchyma forms bands of 3 to more than 3 cells wide and thus surrounds the vessels. The fibres present a thin to thick cell wall.

Macroscopically, rings transitions are visible thanks to the absence of axial parenchyma within an area that is accolated to a thin non-continuous band of parenchyma (Figures 3.6A and B). Microscopically, axially flattened fibres are observed (Figures 3.6C and D).



Figure 3.6: Anatomical specimen of *T. madagascariense* (Tw_63829) under stereomicroscope: black arrows show the limits of rings in (A) and, black arrows show the limits of rings in (B). Cross-sections of *T. madagascariense* (Tw_32669) under light of microscope: black arrows show the transition zone of growth ring in (A) and a black frame surrounds the entire zone where fibre cells are axially flattened in (D).

3.3 Cambial data

a) Leplea thomposonii

Observations on *L. thompsonii* suggest the existence of cambial activity from the first collection on 5 March. In fact, the cambial zone is sometimes rather large, composed by many cells. In addition, some cells of the CZ adjacent to the xylem appeared larger and more rounded than cells of CZ or mature fibres especially in samples of the individual3 (Figures 3.7A, B and C). These could be radial parenchyma cells. Indeed, most of the time for this species, within the study period, a band of radial parenchyma is directly adjacent to the cambial zone (Figures 3.7B and C). Furthermore, these cells have a thickened, but not lignified cell walls, which could be interpreted as new young xylem cells. This leads us to conclude of a low cambial activity at the moment of sampling.

However, under DIC filter, the transition of non-lignified to lignified elements is directly visible by both the demarcation between blue and red cells and the brightness of mature cells. Under blue light, the epifluorescence shows the lignification of intercellular spaces between the different cells of mature wood directly after the CZ, confirming this hypothesis of a low cambial activity (Figure 3.7C).In addition, and despite some variations, from a quantitative point of view, the size and the number of cells that composed the cambial zone by considering both thinner and larger cells are not significatively different from one data collection to another (Figure 3.8). For the three individuals the cell size is a bit larger for the second collection, it can be explained by the recurrent presence of axial parenchyma for which cells have been counted and measured within cambial zone.

To conclude, *L. thompsonii* does not present all 4 phases of development from juvenile to mature cells. However, it can be considered that there is no cambial activity which is limited to the multiplication of the cambial cells without them entering in enlargement and thickening phases. But most of the time a band of radial parenchyma is directly adjacent to the dormant cambial zone.


Figure 3.7: (A) Cross-sections of L. thompsoniii under light of microscope (A), blue light (B) and DIC filter (C). The cambial zone is composed by a multitude of cells in division (red arrows), with 2 or 3 cells wider adjacent to both the cambial zone and the mature wood (green arrows in A and B). These cells look like parenchyma that, in comparison to mature parenchyma cells (purple arrows in A), do not have lignified walls. Mature axial parenchyma are full of starch deposits (purple arrows in B). In addition, the lignification of intercellular spaces and of cells walls (such as fibres and vessels) start directly after the cambial zone (blue arrows in B).

The quantitative approach can be summarised in a graph of the distribution of mean values.



A = 05/03/2022, B = 18/03/2022, C = 01/04/2022, D = 15/04/2022, E = 22/04/2022

Figure 3.8: Boxplots considering all individuals of L. thompsoniii indiscriminately. Mean value of number and size of cells in CZ (Mean N cell, Mean size cell), and also the average total width of ZC (Mean width of CZ) are computed for each data collection T-test were performed to compare the means, but only one of them has been significant (*).

b) Panda oleosa

Only one individual of *P. oleosa* shows cambial activity from the first collection on 5 March. Microsections under blue light and DIC filter illustrate the beginning of lignification of cells wall and intercellular spaces directly after the cambial zone (Figure 3.9C). Moreover, mature fibres have thick walls, easily distinguished, notably by the coloration differentiation under light microscope (Figure 3.9A). Furthermore, no significant differences about the mean number or the size of cells that composed cambial zone are observed (Figure 3.10A). However, the evolution in average of cells' number or their size seems to be more important for the collections B and E, on 18 March and 15 April, respectively. These results are confirmed both for the second and the third individuals.

It is therefore possible to observe each stage of the cell development for the individual1 (Figures 3.9D and F). In addition, new vessels are produced within the cambial zone without any lignified walls (Figure 3.9F).

The quantitative approach confirms the cambial activity. Indeed, firstly, the total number of cells in the considered zone of development increases (Figure 3.10C). Secondly, the mean number and size of cells for each zone on interest slightly varies over time for each part of the developing zone although these mean values are not significantly different between collections (Figures 3.10B). In average, the number of cells in CZ decreases over time with the size of these cells, whereas the number of cells in EZ and TZ increase while the size decreases and remains constant, respectively. As the relative part of the number of cells of EZ and TZ and the width slightly vary, the relative parts occupied by the cambial zone, in terms of cell's number or width of the CZ, are decreasing in favour of their LZ that increased over time (Figures 3.10D). The variability of the width measurements, especially for the LZ, is related to the difficulty of interpreting the lignification limit between cells in thickening and lignification phase.

Globally, the cambial zone is more represented in terms of mean cells number before the lignification zone. But, in terms of width, the lignification zone and the thickening zone are more represented than the cambial zone.



Figure 3.9: Cross-sections of dormant cambial zone of *P. oleosa* under blue light (A), and under the DIC filter (B). Cross-sections of active cambial zone of *P. oleosa* under light of microscope (C), and under blue light (D). The cambial zone is composed by several narrow cells (red arrows). The transition between CZ and the mature xylem is represented blue cells and light grey or shiny cells respectively (black arrows). Lignified walls are well visible thanks to the holographic effect (green arrows in B). Starch deposits also detected under blue light (magenta arrows in A). For active cambium (C and D), the development zone (black arrows) is composed of 4 zones: CZ (red arrows), EZ (green arrows), TZ (orange arrows) and LZ (pink arrows). In addition, developing, non-lignified vessels appeared (white arrows).



A = 05/03/2022, B = 18/03/2022, C = 01/04/2022, D = 15/04/2022, E = 22/04/2022

Figure 3.10: (A) Boxplots considering active individual of *P. oleosa*. Mean number of cells counted by radius (N_cell), radial width of these cells (Size) and mean width of each entire zone of interest (Width) are computed for Cambial Zone (CZ), Enlargement Zone (EZ), Thickening Zone (TZ) and Lignification zone (LZ). Wilcoxon tests show any significant differences of mean between collections. The total mean number of cells and the total mean width of the zone in development increases over collection (B). The average relative part occupied by each zone of interest within the zone of development in terms of number of cells or width fluctuate over data collection (C). (D) Boxplots considering mean value for number and size of cells and width of CZ for dormant individuals of P. oleosa.

c) Petersianthus macrocarpus

An important variability is observed between observations from different collections and between individuals of *P. macrocarpus*.

The thinness of the walls of the fibres present and adjacent to the cambium, particularly for individuals 1 and 3, is a characteristic of the growth rings transition. Most of the time axial parenchyma is directly adjacent to the cambial zone.

Globally at the scale of the fourth samples collections, no distinct cambial activity is visually observed for the individual1. The transition between CZ and mature wood is clear (Figures 3.11A and C). However new cells in formation are observed in places within samples of the second collection (Figure 3.11B). Epifluorescence shows that intercellular spaces are lignified between parenchyma elements, fibres or vessels. It is also the case for walls fibres and vessels. Furthermore, numerous starch deposits are observed within (radial and axial) parenchyma cells. However, the quantitative approach shows that the mean number of cells of CZ and their mean size increase between collections A and B and between C and D (Figure 3.12D).

Some areas of the individuals 2 and 3 of *P. macrocarpus* show an activity of the cambium for the first collection in March 5th. In fact, different stages of xylem development are observable, but these observations are not always recurrent over time. New cells in development are located, but the activity of cambium seems to be non-uniform, i.e. the developing cells are observed only on a few cell rays. Cambial activity is more sustained in individual 2 for which cells are observed to be developing until the collection C on 1April. On the other hand, individual 3 only shows little cambial activity for the two first collections, with few cells in enlargement and thickening phase. From the second collection to the last one, we observed that the number of cells composing the development zone is reducing (Figure 3.12C), no cells in thickening zone are observed (Figure 3.11E). Indeed, for the last sample collections any cambial activity is observed (Figures 3.11F and G). They have thinner cell wall than mature wood but lignified.

The quantitative approach confirms this trend by showing the decrease of the number and the size of cells in LT and EZ over time (Figure 3.12A). In addition, a significant difference of the mean number of cells of EZ and TZ, and also the mean size of cells are observed between the collections A and D. In the opposite the number and the size of the cambial cells remain constant over the study period. Consequently, the proportion of the development zone occupied by cambial zone increases over time at the expense of the enlargement and thickening zone (Figure 3.12C). Overall, there is a slowdown in cambial activity for individuals 2 and 3, through a reduction in the total number of cells forming and the width of the developing zone.



Figure 3.11: Cross-sections of dormant cambial zone of individual of P. macrocarpus under the light of microscope (A), under the DIC filter (B) and under blue light (C). CZ is composed by several narrow cells (red arrows) represented by blue cells. Light grey (A) or shiny (B) cells correspond to mature cells of xylem (black arrows). (B) Lignified walls are well visible thanks to the holographic effect (green arrows) in opposite to the CZ (red arrows). Under blue light, starch deposits are also detected (magenta arrows), intercellular spaces are lignified from de CZ (purple arrows). Black (A) and blue (B) boxes surround space where fibres are axially narrower. Cross-sections of active CZ of the individual2 of P. macrocarpus under the DIC filter (D and F) and under blue light (E and G). The development zone is composed of 3 zones: the CZ (red arrows), the EZ (green arrows), the TZ (orange arrows), no LZ was observed. For the same individual2 observed at different dates, the cambium active on 05/03 is perceived inactive on 22/04.



Figure 3.12: (A) Boxplots considering active individuals 2 and 3 of *P. macrocarpus*. Mean number of cells counted by radius (N_cell), radial width of these cells (Size) and mean width of each entire zone of interest (Width) are computed for Cambial Zone (CZ), Enlargement Zone (EZ) and Thickening Zone (TZ). Wilcoxon tests show on significant differences of mean number of cell in EZ and in TZ between 05/03 and 15/04. The total mean number of cells and the total mean width of the zone in development decreases over collection (B). The average relative part occupied by each zone of interest within the zone of development in terms of number of cells or width fluctuate over data collection (C). (D) Boxplots considering mean value for number and size of cells and width of CZ for dormant individual of *P. macrocarpus*.

d) Scorodophloeus zenkeri

Intraspecific variability in cambial activity is observed for *S. zenkeri*. Two individuals show no activity of their cambium characterized by few, narrow cells (Figures 3.13A and B). Epifluorescence shows that lignification occurs directly after the cambial zone on mature wood (Figure 3.13B). Furthermore, for several samples, limits of growth ring, characterised by flattened fibres directly adjacent to the CZ are visible (Figures 3.13B and C). The microscopic observations are confirmed by statistical analysis. There are no any significant differences, neither in terms of number of cells, nor in terms of size of the cells that compose the cambial zone between the different collections (Figures 3.14D).

In the opposite, a high cambial activity is observed for the individu2 of *S. zenkeri*. Thanks to the combination of the different microscopic approaches, each stage of cell development, from their division to the lignification process are detected (Figures 3.13C and D). New vessels are also present (Figure 3.13D).

Globally, few significant differences have been observed for the different variables over time. The number of cells increase for CZ, EZ and TZ, in the opposite it decreases for LZ (Figure 3.14B). However, the size of each type of cells seems to decrease over the study period (Figure 3.14A).

In a quantitative point of view, the mean number and the mean size of cells that composed the cambial zone either for individual 2 either for individuals 1 and 3, follow the same increasing trend. In addition, the respective mean values of cambial cells number are almost equal if we consider each data collections for active or inactive cambium (Figures 3.14A and D). However, in the opposite to individuals 1 and 3, for the individual 2 other cells in development are observed. Globally, few significant differences have been observed for the different variables over time. The number of cells increases for CZ, EZ and TZ, but the size of each of EZ and TZ cells seems to decrease over the study period (Figure 3.14A). Cells of LZ seem to become less numerous and narrower over time. Furthermore, while the total number of cells present in the development zone increases, the relative parts occupied by cells in EZ and TZ rise at the expense of CZ and LZ (Figures 3.14B and C). In fact, in the particular case of *S. zenkeri*, it remains difficult to distinguish cells in lignification process to mature fibres. Moreover, the wall is thin to thick, it is therefore difficult to really separate the thickening and the lignification processes. The decrease in the number of cells in EZ and TZ may be related to their maturation.

Relatively considered, the thickening zone is more represented within the zone of development than cambial and enlargement zones in terms of the mean number of cells or the width of the zone (Figure 3.14C). Then it is the enlargement zone and the cambial zone, the lignification zone and the juvenile phloem.



Figure 3.13: Cross-sections of dormant cambial zone for individuals 1 and 3 of *S. zenkeri*, under the DIC filter (A) and under blue light (B). CZ is composed by several narrow cells (red arrows). The transition between CZ and the mature xylem is represented blue cells and light grey or shiny cells respectively (black arrows). In addition, axially flattened fibres are directly adjacent to CZ (yellow arrows). In (A) lignified walls are well visible thanks to the holographic effect (green arrows), starch deposits are detected under blue light (magenta arrows). Cross-sections of active cambial zone of *S. zenkeri* (individual 2) under the DIC filter (C) and under blue light (D). The development zone (black arrows) is composed of 4 zones: the cambial zone (red arrows), the enlargement zone (green arrows), the thickening zone (orange arrows) and the lignification zone (pink arrows). In addition, developing, non-lignified vessels appeared (white arrows).





Figure 3.14: (A) Boxplots considering active cambium of individual2 of *S. zenkeri*. Mean number of cells counted by radius (N_cell), radial width of these cells (Size) and mean width of each entire zone of interest (Width) are computed for Cambial Zone (CZ), Enlargement Zone (EZ), Thickening Zone (TZ), Lignification zone (LZ), and juvenile phloem (Ph). Wilcoxon tests have been realised and show on significant difference (*) of mean number of cambial cells between collections A and B. (The total mean number of cells and the total mean width of the zone in development increases over collection (B). The average relative part occupied by each zone of interest within the zone of development in terms of number of cells or width fluctuate over data collection (C). (D) Boxplots considering mean value for number and size of cells and width of CZ for dormant individual of *S. zenkeri*.

e) Synsepalum subcordatum

Individuals of *S. subcordatum* show no cambial activity and generally have a narrow dormant cambial zone. The followed pattern of growth is similar for the three individuals, that are thus indiscriminately considered. A band of axial parenchyma, whose cells have a lignified wall, is often found adjacent to the CZ (Figures 3.15A and C). In addition, the fibres walls directly adjacent to the CZ are often thinner than the other fibres of the mature xylem.

The quantitative analysis, based on the measurements calculated for the 3 individuals, shows that no significant differences of means neither for number of cells neither for size of cells that composed the cambial zone are observed (Figures 3.16). There is a more marked increase in the number of cells in collection E, which could mark the beginning of activity but no conclusion can be drawn without measurements taken later in the season.



Figure 3.15: Cross-sections of *S.synsepalum* under DIC filter (A) and under blue light (B). The cambial zone is composed by several narrow cells (red arrows). Limit of lignification is observed thanks to the difference of brightness and colours. Blue cells and elements are non-lignified as opposed to the bright elements that are lignified (black arrows). Under blue light, radial parenchyma is distinguishable and sometimes accolated to the CZ (yellow arrows). Starch deposit are visible within parenchyma cells (magenta arrows).



 $A=05/03/2022,\,B=18/03/2022,\,C=01/04/2022,\,D=15/04/2022,\,E=22/04/2022$

Figure 3.16: Boxplots considering all individuals of S. subcordatum indiscriminately. Mean number of cells counted by radius (Mean N cell), radial width of these cells (Mean size cell) and mean width of each entire zone of interest (Mean width of CZ) are computed for Cambial Zone (CZ). T-test were performed to compare the means, but only one of them has been significant (*), the others are non-significant changes (NS).

f) Trilepisium madagascariense

Samples of *T. madagascariense* have been collected from the second, on 18 March, micro-coring collections to the five one on 29 April. Cambial activity is observed within each sample of each individual of T. madagascariense over the study period. In addition to xylem development observations, development of secondary phloem is observable (Figure 3.17A and C). Therefore, the cambial zone is quite large, composed by many cells.

Visually, the three individuals show a cambial activity along the 4 collections especially for the individuals 1 and 3. But in the case of the individual2, the cambial activity is more important during the second collection notably apparition of new vessels, and during the third collection and seems to stop after that (Figures 3.17A). This is also reflected in the fact that the boxplots for the number and size of cells for the enlarging cells have interval boundaries of 0 (Figure 3.18A). In addition, even if cambial activity is observed, only cells in division and in enlargement phase are noticeable. No lignification is thus observed.

Quantitatively, only one significant difference of the means, both in terms of number and cell size, for each considered part is noticed between collections B and E (Figure 3.18A). The average width and number of cells of each of the tree part of interest seems to slightly decrease over time (Figure 3.18B). Relatively considered, the cambial zone is more represented both in terms of number of cells and by the

width of CZ, proportionally to EZ and Ph which are less represented within the zone of development (Figure 3.18C). However, the proportions occupied by each type of cells remain constant over the study period.



Figure 3.17: Cross-sections of T. madagascariense under DIC filter (A), under light of microscope (B), and under light microscope (C). The cambial zone is composed by numerous narrow cells (red arrows). The limit of lignification is observed thanks to the difference of brightness (A) and colours (C). Blue cells and elements are non-lignified as opposed to the bright or red elements that are lignified. Sometimes new non-lignified vessels are observed (A) (black arrows). Under blue light, the limit between lignified and non-lignified elements is clear (black arrows), intercellular spaces are lignified from the end of CZ and walls of mature cells such as fibres and fibres are lignified (magenta arrows).



A = 05/03/2022, B = 18/03/2022, C = 01/04/2022, D = 15/04/2022, E = 22/04/2022

Figure 3.18: Boxplots considering active cambium of the 3 individuals of T. madagascariense indiscriminately. Mean number of cells counted by radius (N_cell), radial width of these cells (Size) and mean width of each entire zone of interest (Width) are computed for Cambial Zone (CZ), Enlargement Zone (EZ) and Phloem (Ph) (A). T-test were performed to compare the means, but only one of them has been significant (*) between the first and the fourth collection, the others are non-significant changes (NS). The total mean number of cells and the total mean width of the zone in development decreases over collection (B). The average relative part occupied by each zone of interest within the zone of development in terms of number of cells or width fluctuate over data collection (C).

3.3.1 Summary of observations

Overall, the growth ring transition is most easily seen at the macroscopic scale, with areas devoid of parenchyma and vessels. However, on a microscopic scale, when the transition is visible, radially flattened fibres, sometimes with thickened walls, are often observed (Table 3.2).

L. thompsonii and S. subcordatum show any cambial activity, and the mean number of cells in CZ remains constant over the study period. T. madagascariense present active cambium but the total number of cells decreases over time. P. oleosa and S. zenkeri present only one individual with cambial activity but the total number of cells produced over time increases for them while it remains constant for inactive individuals. P. macrocarpus shows a cambial activity for 2 of the 3 individuals, but the average total number of cells in development decreases whereas the cells number of cells of CZ is increasing for inactive individual.

Table 3.2: Summary of characteristics of ring transition for 6 species of Yangambi forest at macroscopic and microscopic level.

Characteristics of rings transition									
Species	Macroscopically	Microscopically							
L. thompsoniii	Absence of axial parenchyma , Absence of vessels	/							
P. oleosa	Less compacted axial (scalariform) parenchyma	Sometimes axially flattened fibres Absence of axial parenchyma, Absence of axial parenchyma							
P. macrocarpus	Absence of axial parenchyma over several micrometers, Marginal band of parenchyma	Small discontinuous bands of parenchyma, Axially flattened fibres							
S. zenkeri	Very thin band of fibres, Thickened fibres wall, ! wedging rings	/ , Sometimes flattened fibres							
S. subcordatum	Absence of reticulated parecnhyma bands, Marginal band of parenchyma	/							
T. madagascariense	Very thin band of fibres, Thickened fibres wall, ! wedging rings	/ , Sometimes flattened fibres							
S. subcordatum	Absence of axial parenchyma, Absence of vessels, Discontinous band of parenchyma	Axially flattened fibres							

Average values can be extracted from the measurements in Fig 3.8, Fig 3.10, Fig 3.12, Fig 3.14, Fig 3.16, Fig 3.18. Mean number of cells for each zone of development have been calculated by computing results for the 3 individuals, considering both dormancy or activity of the cambium. In average, the cambial zone is mainly represented within the zone of development.

Table 3.3: Data and measurements of cambial zone elements for monitored species. N is the number of radii considered. Mean values have been calculated based on the mean value obtain for each considered radius.

Mean number of cells (SD)									
Species	Ph	CZ	EZ	TZ	LZ	Total			
L. thompsoniii	-	$8,07 \pm 1,67$	-	-	-	$8,07 \pm 1,67$			
P. macrocarpus	-	$6,54 \pm 1,62$	$1,30 \pm 2,01$	$1,28 \pm 2,44$	-	$8{,}85\pm3{,}78$			
P. oleosa	-	$7,98 \pm 2,92$	$1,55 \pm 2,93$	$1,77 \pm 3,44$	$2,02 \pm 4,08$	$6,54 \pm 11,74$			
S. zenkeri	$3,12 \pm 1,42$	$6,27 \pm 1,18$	$2,56 \pm 4,21$	$2,1 \pm 4,37$	$1,67 \pm 2,96$	$7,98 \pm 11,02$			
S. subcordatum	-	$5,25 \pm 1,18$	-	-	-	$5,25 \pm 1,18$			
T. madagascariense	$4,07 \pm 1,47$	$8,21 \pm 2,13$	$3,51 \pm 2,46$	-	-	$15,79{\pm}1,23$			
Total average species	$3,65 \pm 1,67$	$7,09 \pm 2,18$	$4,64 \pm 3,15$	$5,83 \pm 4,40$	$4,75 \pm 4,49$	$10,57 \pm 7,81$			

For various reasons, it was decided that certain species should no longer be considered. Indeed, wood of A. mannii stains rapidly when stored in ethanol. Therefore, visual identification of the cambial area is made almost impossible. C. lacourtianum was also left out because the individuals were very variable in morphology, notably by a very different DBH and difficult to find in the plots. After several treatments for the first three collections, the quality of the microsections for G. suaveolens are not satisfying (Appendice 6.3). Consequently, we did not further consider this species.



Figure 3.19: Phenology and cambial development rythms of studied trees, and climate data between March and April 2022 for study site. The star indicates that there is high intra-species variability in cambial and leaf phenology. Phloem (PH), Cambial Zone (CZ), Enlargement zone (EZ), Thickening Zone (TZ) and Lignification zone (LZ) are estimated.

3.4 Phenological data

3.4.1 At plot scale

Some species seem to have a more developed foliar phenology than others. Globally, individuals within a same species follow the same trend of foliar phenology over the study period. Over the study period, P. macrocarpus, S. subcordatum, S. zenkeri and T. madagascariense show no significant changes in their leaf phenology, mainly composed of old leaves. However, S. subcordatum produces fruits during the seasonal transition from 18 March to 15 April. The fruiting phenology of S. zenkeri changes little but the appearance of mature fruits, thus also of immature fruits, occurs within 1 month during the seasonal transition when no new leaves are produced. In the opposite, few intraspecific variations are observed for P. oleosa and L. thompsonii. P. oleosa also shows a decrease in leaves production. In contrast, L. thompsonii and G. suaveolens seem to produce more leaves during this transition.



Figure 3.20: Stacked barplots of the evolution of foliar phenology from the 18 March to the 15 April2022 for the three monitored species. 1, 2 and 3 correspond to the number of the individual followed. The relative parts of each category of leaves, fruits and flowers are cumulated for each individual of each species.

3.4.2 At forest scale

The phenocam images were briefly studied. However, monitoring of the 4 circled cymes showed that some deciduous species (Red circle in figure 3.21) produced new leaves during the 2 months of observation. Other trees maintained a developed foliage (Blue circle in figure 3.21). Others appear to have produced new leaves and/or fruits (Purple and brown circles in figure 3.21).



Figure 3.21: Images taken by Wingscape autonomous phenocam on 3 dates with 1 month interval. 4 crowns were marked with a coloured circle showing deciduous species (red and purple circles), developed foliage (blue circle) and production of fruits or new leaves (purple and brown circles).

3.5 Climate data

Climate data were collected from February to May, corresponding to the transition from the dry season to the short rainy season. While the observed maximum and minimum temperatures are rather constant, parameters such as relative humidity or precipitations vary over the considered period (Figures 3.22A and C). This is confirmed by, firstly, the small standard-deviation of the average minimum and maximum temperature; and secondly by the higher standard-deviation of the humidity of air and precipitation (Figure 3.22C). Two peaks of precipitation occurred during the study period in March and in April, corresponding to the second and the fifth collection, respectively. A lower relative humidity and a less important insolation index are also observed over a period of 5 weeks between these extremes (Figures 3.22A and B), during the third and the fourth collections (Figure 3.22D).



Figure 3.22: (A) Umbrothermal diagram over February to May 2022 for Yangambi. (B) Plots of the evolution of insolation index from February to May 2022 for Yangambi. Blue line is a fitted curve based on Loess regression. (C) Average climate parameters for the study period (D) Umbrothermal diagram from February to April 2022 for Yangambi, considering an interval of 2 weeks before each data collection. (E) PCA graph made on the average climate parameters obtained by intervals of 2 weeks over the study period (from 22/02/20 to 22/04/22) for the values of air humidity, sustained insolation, maximum and minimum temperatures (°C), precipitation (mm) and sum of precipitation (mm).

Resulting from the PCA, 3 groups are formed: the first with collections 2 and 5, the second with collections 3 and 4 and the last one for the first collection (Figure 3.22E). Indeed, when comparing these results with barplot considering two weeks intervals (Figure 3.22D), the intervals before the collections 2 and 5 are marked by higher precipitations, and a lower exposure index. The group

of collections 3 and 4 is marked by a lower air humidity rate, lower rainfall and higher maximum temperatures. Collection 1 is therefore characterised by air humidity and higher exposure time, but with lower rainfall.

3.6 Relation between climate parameters and cambial/leaf phenology

3.6.1 Cambial and foliar phenology relation

As the leaf phenology data were only collected twice at monthly intervals, it is possible to relate these data to the cambial data but not with a quantitative approach. The general status of the cambiums of each individual and each species observed for the study period is described in the following table. In addition, the status of the leaf parameters is assessed as a trend between the first and second foliar phenological collection dates, i.e. "Is there production of new leaves between the first and second collection dates? A "Yes" indicates that there is a positive evolution of the parameter, a "No" indicates that no significant positive evolution has been observed (Table 3.4).

No direct link between fruit, flower or new leaf production and cambial activity appears. Some individuals show cambial activity, but no change in crown composition. Conversely, other individuals are in cambial dormancy while leaves, fruits or flowers are produced (Table 3.4). Active individual of P. oleosa produces flower, and dormant individuals of S. subcordatum produce fruits over the study period.

L. thompsonii and S. subcordatum show no cambial activity reflected by a number of cambial cells that remains constant over the study period. But they produce new leaves, and immature fruits for S. subcordatum. In the opposite S. subcordatum presents a dormant cambium but produces fruits, flowers and leaves. The inter-individual variability of the 2 phenologies is important implying a difficulty to draw a trend for the species.

Dawkin index seems to be the same more generally identical for individuals within each species.

Table 3.4: Cambial status over the study period, and flowers, leaves and fruits production over the study period between the 18 March and 15 April, Dawkin index over the study period.

Species	Individual	State of	Leaves	Flowers	Envite and	Dawkin
		cambium	prod.	prod.	Fruits prod.	index
	1	Dormant	Yes	No	No	2-3
L. thompsoniii	2	Dormant	No	No	No	2-3
	3	Dormant	Yes	No	No	2-3
	1	Active	Yes	Yes	No	3
P. oleosa	2	Dormant	Yes	No	No	2
	3	Dormant	Yes	No	No	3-4
P. macrocarpus	1	Dormant	No	No	No	5
	2	Active	No	No	No	5
	3	Active	No	No	No	5
	1	Dormant	Yes	No	No	5
S. zenkeri	2	Active	Yes	No	Yes	3
	3	Dormant	Yes	No	Yes	5
	1	Dormant	No	No	No	5
S. subcordatum	2	Dormant	Yes	No	Yes	2-3
	3	Dormant	Yes	No	Yes	2
T. madagascariense	1	Active	No	No	No	5
	2	Active	No	No	No	5
	3	Active	No	No	Yes	5

3.6.2 Cambial activity and climate relation

3 models M0 (2), M1 (1) and M3 (2) were tested to assess the potential influence of climate on cambial growth. Generated mixed models using M1 almost all agree that there is no significant influence of climate on cell production (Table 3.5). But, the relevance of the model can be questioned by comparing this model with other models (M0 and M2).

M1 seems to be uniquely suitable to P. oleosa and S. zenkeri and to a lesser extent to P. macrocarpus (Table 3.5). Indeed, as we compare M1 and M0 that does not take the climate factor in account, the integration of climate factor and random « Individual » factor makes the model more sensitive for P. oleosa and S. zenkeri. It is traduced by a lower AIC, a significant difference for the ANOVA of the 2 models and a high conditional \mathbb{R}^2 for M1 (Table 3.5). Thus, a tendency to increase the number of cells can be observed with increasing rainfall and decreasing exposure time for both species. Moreover, a higher interval is observed around the intercept of fix factor for these 3 species, traducing a high variability of the cells number between individuals. The significant difference observed between M1 and M2, and the higher standard error of random effects confirm the importance to take in account the random effect related to individual for these 3 species. Therefore, it can be said that the proposed M1 model is more relevant for species that show marked cambial activity for at least 1 of the monitored individuals.

On the other hand, M1 seems to be unsuitabled for the other species due to rather low marginal and conditional \mathbb{R}^2 . In addition, integration of climate in M1 and M2 for *L. thompsonii*, *S. subcordatum* and *T. madagascariense*, do not provide further information in comparison to M0 explained by a unsignificant difference observed between models by the ANOVA, but also by a higher AIC for M0. It is understandable that it is the case of *L. thompsonii* and *S. subcordatum* for which no cambial activity was observed. But it is problematic for T. madagascariense that present cells in division and in enlargement phase.

Table 3.5: Summaries of linear mixed model analyses of the relationships between cambial activity and climate taking into account the randomness of individuals (M1)

		L. thompsonii	P. macrocarpus	P. oleosa	S. zenkeri	$S. \ subconductum$	T. madagascariense
	M1 :	$\ln(\text{cambial a})$	$activity) \sim cl$	imate+(1+c)	limate indivi	idual)	
				Coefficier	nt [95 CI]		
	Intercept $\beta 0$	0,896	0,929	1,043	0,982	0,709	1,172
Fixed		[0,849;0,938]	0,781;1,083]	[0,56;1,52]	[0,499;1,464]	[0,686;0,733]	[1,089;1,254]
effects	Climate $\beta 1$	0,005	0,014	0,034	0,021	-0,005	0,015
		[-0,009;0,018]	[0,781;1,083]	[-0,024;0,099]	[-0,024;0,067]	[-0,018;0,009]	[-0,009;0,037]
Individual	Intercept 0	0,033	2,72	0,364	0,365	0,00	0,057
random	Climate 1	0,003	0,25	0,037	0,031	1,339 e-02	0,004
effects (SD)							
Goodness-	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Marginal} \\ \text{R}^2 \end{array}$	0,007	0,014	0,0217	0,009	0,006	0,029
01-110	$\begin{array}{c} Conditional \\ R^2 \end{array}$	0,125	0,327	0,846	0,939	0,006	0,23

Table 3.6: Results of the ANOVA tests performed between the different regression models by species. The level of significance is marked: significant (*), highly significant (**) and very highly significant (***).

All individuals considered									
Species	L. thompsonii	P. macrocarpus	P. oleosa	S. zenkeri	S. subcordatum	T. madagascariense			
M0 VS M1	0,895	0,889	0,051	6,2 e-4(***)	0,933	0,487			
M1 VS M2	0,419	0,178	2,2 e-16(***)	2,2 e-16(***)	1	0,179			
M0 VS M3	-	0,06	-	-	-	$4,94 \text{ e-}05(^{***})$			

Consequently, it is interesting to better characterise relationship between climate factors and cells production, and thus better understand the differences observed from these regressions. For this purpose, Spearman correlations have been calculated between the total number of cells generated over the growing zone for each species, considering individuals indistinctly, and each climatic parameter. In the first row of the next table, we find the synthetic climate factor and the Spearman correlation indices for the different climate variables. The results obtained are similar to those identified by the PCA, i.e. the main axis is well correlated with precipitation, relative humidity and the insolation index. The correlations index for the species indicates that the correlations between the variables are very weak and that only a few are significantly correlated. In addition, several species show negative correlations.

However, if we only look at individuals that clearly show cambial activity, the correlation indices show a high correlation with the pattern of insolation, rainfall and the synthetic climate variable. This is particularly true for P. oleosa and S. zenkeri. But cells production is more correlated with rainfall and temperature for T. madagascariense and with temperature for P. macrocarpus.

As it can be seen that cells production of P. macrocarpus and T. madagascariense are not strongly correlated with the climate variable, but more so for the temperature variables and rainfall. It is interesting to generate alternative predictive model taking into account the variables for which a significant correlation has been identified via the Spearman test. Thus a third model M3 similar to M1 in which the climate variable was replaced by the temperature variables was proposed for P. macrocarpus (4) and T. madagascariense (5).

$$\mathbf{M3-PM} : \ln(cambial \ activity) \ \sim Tmax \ + \ Tmin \ + \ HR \ + (\mathbf{1}|Individual) \tag{4}$$

M3-TM : ln (cambial activity) $\sim Tmax + Tmin + HR + Prcptsum + Prcpt + (1|Individual)$ (5)

M3 provide much more information than M0, as significant results of ANOVA between M3 and M0 shows (Table 3.6), AIC of M3 is lower than M0, M2 or M1. In addition, the conditionnal R² of these models are also more important, M3 thus seems to explain more of the variability around the observations than M0 or M1 (Appendice 6.1). These models allow to identify significant effects of different climate parameters.

Table 3.7: Spearman correlation indices for climatic data and the average total number of cells observed within the development area by species. The level of significance of the values for an alpha =0.05 is noted in brackets: (*) significant, (***) very highly significant. Average total number of cells (Tot N cell), synthetic climate variable (Climate), maximum mean temperature (Tmax), maximum mean temperature (Tmin), insolation lasting (insol), relative humidity (RH), precipitations (Prcpt), sum of precipitation (Sum Prcpt).

All individuals considered									
Species		Tmax (°C)	Tmin (°C)	insol (%)	RH (%)	Prcpt (mm) Sum Prcpt (mm)		Climate	
	Climate	-0,73	0,23	-0,88	-0,23	0,92	0,93	-	
L. thompsoniii	Tot N cell	0,14	-0,05	-0,07	-0,32 (**)	0,05	-0,12	0,09	
P. oleosa	Tot N cell	-0,16	0,21	0,08	-0,02	0,13	0,09	0,03	
P. macrocarpus	Tot N cell	-0,57(***)	0,57(***)	0,43	(*) 0,21	0,23	0,25	-0,18	
S. zenkeri	Tot N cell	0,15	-0,09	0,02	-0,14	0,25(*)	0,20	0,15	
S. subcordatum	Tot N cell	-0,33(*)	0,30	0,19(*)	0,32 (***)	-0,09	-0,01	-0,13	
T. madagascariense	Tot N cell	0,35(**)	-0,33 (**)	-0,29 (*)	0,29(*)	0,35(**)	0,35(**)	0,19	
			Individuals	with activ	e cambiun	1			
Species		Tmax (°C)	Tmin (°C)	insol (%)	RH (%)	Prcpt (mm)	Sum Prcpt (mm)	Climate	
P. macrocarpus	Tot N cell	-0,36(*)	0,35~(*)	0,12	0,17	0,14	0,15	-0,01	
P. oleosa	Tot N cell	-0,26	0,26	-0,25	-0,44	0,35	-0,11	0,37	
S. zenkeri	Tot N cell	0,32	-0,32	-0,68(***)	-0,76(***)	0,68(***)	0,32	0,68 (***)	
T. madagascariense	Tot N cell	0,35(**)	-0,33(**)	-0,29(*)	0,29(*)	0,35(**)	0,35(**)	0,19	

4 Discussions

4.1 Cambial data

The obtained results offer many valuable information on the cambium and its anatomy, on the particular case of Yangambi forest over the seasonal transition. More particularly about cells in enlargement and thickening phases for which studies remain rare. It also provided relevant information on the laboratory methods and tools to be used in the case of studies following the approach described in this work.

Growth rings transition

Regarding the characterisation of the transition zone macroscopically, numerous monitored species present a zone devoid of axial parenchyma on several micrometres, sometimes with discontinuous parenchyma band (Table 3.2). Microscopically, most species show a band of several radially flattened cells. Observation of flattened cells with thicken walls is characteristic for rings transition of temperate species even if the transition is more marked [39] or for other tropical species [76]. In the present case, these observations have been made on sections issued from the RMAC collection. Only a few of these could be observed on the samples collected in Yangambi especially for *S. zenkeri* in the vicinity of the cambial zone (Figure 3.13A) or sometimes for *L. thompsonii* (Figure 3.7). No other cases could be observed for the other species, even for individuals with inactive cambium. Hypothetically, either the ring transition zone was cut out during the preparation of the cores or it is located much further into the wood, showing that the start of the ring formation observed has started some time ago.

Globally, growth ring transition remains difficult to observe. But it can be explained by the local seasonality. Indeed, this is confirmed by Tarelkin who has demonstrated the anatomical variations of deciduous species are not significantly different according to the seasonality [39]. But these variations are much more important for evergreen and semi-deciduous species for well-marked precipitations [53]. She noticed that it seems more probable to observe an homogeneous wood with less variations of diameter fibres, and less abrupt thickening of cells for evergreen species under a low seasonality. In addition, the cambial dormancy induced by a period of drought implies important anatomical variation resulting in the appearance of annual growth ring for evergreen species. As the annual rainfall is rather well distributed over the year in Yangambi (Figure 2.1C), the growth rhythmicity is less regular than in other climate regime, involving less distinct anatomical variations. This statement corroborates the observations that have been made on the RMCA samples and on the collected samples.

Cambial zone

Visually, many observations and characterisations of cambial anatomy can be made for each species. The results detected cambial activity for 4 of the 6 monitored species for, at least, one of the 3 studied individuals (Table 3.4). *L. thompsonii* and *S. subcordatum* show no cambial activity. Moreover, any onset of the cambial activity has been detected during the study period. But different developmental stages were detected depending on the species ranging from dividing cambial cells to cells in the lignification phase (Figures 3.7, 3.9, 3.11, 3.13, 3.15 3.17).

The variable quality of the samples and sections affects the visual interpretation. In addition, using adapted tools is essential to conduct relevant analyses of active cambium. For individuals for which xylem and cambial zone demarcations are well marked, notably thanks to coloration, an analyse under a light microscope can be sufficient (Figures 3.17). In contrast, study of individuals with active cambium is much more complex and more subjective despite the used tools. It is the reason why filters (DIC filter and Epifluorescence) should be used (Figures 3.9, 3.11, 3.13). Characterisation of wood anatomy can be extended to the phloem but this part has not been detailed on this work.

For several species, bands of axial parenchyma were directly encountered the cambial zone, especially for L. thompsonii (Figures 3.17). These bands seem to be mature wood, signifying that dormant

cambium is sometimes accolated by band of parenchyma. It can be a limit of growth rings such as observed for *S. parahyba* [76]. In *Cedrela fissilis* this marginal band of parenchyma is produced just before the dormancy [77], it is also the case for *Carapa guianensis* and *Swietenia macrophylla* [78]. This could confirm the conclusion made for LT where a dormant cambium is observed but where parenchyma adjacent to the CZ is often found.

The characterisation and counting of cells in the different development zones can be influenced by different factors. Firstly, the distinction between thickening and lignifying cells is complex and subjective, especially when using unsuitable tools. Secondly, lignification can start while the walls of the fibres thicken (Figures 3.13D). This complexity in separating the two phases is reflected in a larger interval around the calculated mean value of the cell size or cell number variables in T. madagascariense and L. thompsonii (Table 3.4). Consequently, it might be more relevant to consider these areas indiscriminately. Thirdly, some species have a much more developed network of vessels, such as P. oleosa near the cambium. As these vessels were not taken into account in the measurements made, it is likely that the number of cells observed per ray for these species is affected (Figure 3.9). This also induces more variability around the average zone width values (Table 3.4).

Quantitatively, the results show that dormant cambiums, observed for *L. thompsonii* (Figure 3.7) and *S. subcordatum* (Figure 3.15), are characterised by a constant mean number of cambial cells over time. For *P. oleosa* and *S. zenkeri* the total number of cells evolves for the active individuals, but remains constant for inactive individuals (Figures 3.14A, 3.10A). Numbers of cells varies for all the individuals of *P. macrocarpus* (Figure 3.12A).

Globally, S. zenkeri and T. madagascariense show both secondary xylem development, and secondary phloem development (Figures 3.13, 3.17). It is interesting, because information about development of phloem remains rare. On average 4 cell layers were observed for these species. Marcati also observed 2 to 5 immature phloem cells next to active cambium for Schizolobium parahyba [76].

Significant differences of the mean number or size of cells between collections have been rarely occurred. However, the data sets generated for each individual and species remain quite reduced, test may be subjective or unrepresentative. Furthermore, as the cambium study is a punctual measure it is really important to multiply measurements and collection over time. The number of cambial cells between active and inactive individuals is only slightly different for P. oleosa, S. zenkeri and P. macrocarpus (Figures 3.9, 3.13, 3.11). The average number of cambial cells is around 6-7 cells, although S. subcordatum has a reduced CZ with 5 cells and L. thompsonii a larger CZ with 8 cells, with small increments for active individuals. Although some studies have shown that cambial zone can be reduced to only 2 or 3 cells [79], number of cambial cells is from 5 to 11 cells for dormant cambium, with an average increase of 2-3 cambial cells during cambium activity [80, 81, 82, 57]. But in some cases, number of cells can raise until 15 to 20 cells at the peak of cambial activity [83, 77, 76]. Most of the time the more numerous cells within the zone of development of active individuals are cambial cells. However, the cumulated cells located outside the cambial zone are more numerous (Table 3.4). The same observation was made by Morel on *Parkia velutina* and *Parkia nitida* [75]. Number of cells in development located outside the CZ can reach 30 cells in differentiation phase [76, 80]. Although the time steps considered in these studies are much larger than the one considered in this curent work, our obtained results seem following the same trends as observed for tropical and temperate trees.

Finally, in order to assess the state of cambium, it is important to combine the quantitative and visual approaches which provide complementary information. Most of the time, if cambial activity is visually observed, the quantitative approach confirms these observations. On the other hand, it happens that visually no differences, especially in terms of cell number, are detected while quantitative analysis show an increase in cell number. This is particularly the case when the cells of the CZ are dividing but have not yet entered the enlargement phase. On the other hand, it is important to note that only the characterisation of the shape, size and number of cells within the developing zone were

considered as indicators of cambial activity. Indeed, the ultrastructure of a cambial cell consisting of a vacuole, the wall or the mytotic apparatus evolves during cambial activity and can be used as proxy for detect onset of cambial activity [84].

4.2 Phenological data

Obtained results globally confirm the information gathered in the literature (Table 2.1). 3 of the 6 species show very little change (*P. macrocarpus, S. subcordatum, T. madagascariense*) and 3 others show a slight (until 20%) increase (*L. thompsonii, P. oleosa*) or decrease (*G. suaveolens*) in mature leaf composition as well as anecdotal fruit and flower production for *S. zenkeri* and *P. oleosa* (Figure 3.20). This variability of cases and situations is also reflected in the phenocam images that show the production of new leaves and fruits for some trees, and a maintenance of leaf abundance over the 3 months of observations (Figure 3.21). The senescence observed in March seems to be gradually disappearing (blue circle in Figure 3.21). As the species have not been identified on the images and not observed with binoculars, their exact temperament cannot be known. However, some of them do not seem to be completely deciduous (purple circle in Figure 3.21). This is confirmed by the fact that some senescence can be observed even in evergreen species [39, 9].

4.3 Relation between climate parameters and cambial/foliar phenology

4.3.1 Variability of cambial and foliar phenology

As the previous results show, important variabilities of foliar and cambial status exist between and within species (Figure 3.19, Table 3.4). Many studies have confirm these important interspecies and inter-individual variabilities [39], sometimes observed even under similar environmental conditions [85]. Many justifications can be put forward. Firstly, phenological activities can be synchronous [86] but also asynchronous [37]. For numerous every even or semi-deciduous species, leaves of flowers or at least buds flushing start several weeks before the onset of cambial activity [87, 79, 37]. Secondly, it has been recognised that cambial activity is not uniform in all directions. Study on Robinia pseudoacacia has shown that the solar radiation can lead to an increase in temperature at the periphery of the trunk and promote cambial growth depending on the direction of the light received [88]. Indeed, in one hand, as a reminder the collection of samples started in the northern direction. On the other hand, numerous monitored individuals present a Dawkin index of 2 or 3 signifying that one side of the tree receives light preferentially. Unfortunately, the direction from which individuals receive this light has not been determined, so this hypothesis cannot be concluded. But hypothetically, the sampling process realised can be unrepresentative of the major trend of the entire individual. Thirdly, according to Rathgeber, differences in status related to diameter, height or exposure of the crown can influence the intra-annual cambial dynamics of species [89]. As all individuals are broadly in the same diameter class, it seems unlikely that differences between individuals of the same species are related to this variable but it can be true to explain differences between species. The height of monitored stems is variable, but the higher individuals, dominant, which have more access to light, are not systematically those with an active cambium. However, this must be contextualised according to the respective light requirements and the development stage of the species. In addition, some non-dominant trees have significant access to light, as shown by S. zenkeri (Table 3.1). Our results do not really seem to follow Rathgeber's observations. Finally, sometimes growth abnormalities such as momentary cessation of cambial activity can occur. According to Detienne this could be caused by phenological events [62]. Otherwise, intraspecific variability can be explained by the accessibility to other resources such as water and minerals within the soil. Indeed, the influence of soil moisture on the cambial activity has been several times proved [56, 86, 75]. In addition, the interspecies variability can be related to the lack of knowledge on species phenology, especially about the interannual variability of growth cycles of trees. Indeed, some species adopt an biannual cycle of growth [14, 15, 16]. Finally, endogenous factors can influence phenophases of cambium differently for the individuals [22, 23, 24].

4.3.2 Cambial activity and climate

Spearman correlations between climate parameters and production of cells are low when the individuals of the same species are considered indistinctly. However, they are more important and also have a more significant effect on growth when tested only on active individuals. As for the variability of correlations between climatic variables and cells development of species, predictive models of the cell production must take into account different climatic parameters (Tables 3.5, 3.6). This inter-species variability, even when considered under the same climate conditions, seems to be confirmed in many cases [90].

For this study, the most explanatory factor of the cells production is the synthetic climate variable for *P. oleosa* and *S. zenkeri*. As a reminder, both the average rainfall and the duration of exposure underlie the synthetic variable, thus it is their combined effects that measure the influence of cell production. Even if its effect is not significant, the synthetic climate variable seems to be an acceptable predictor of cell production for these 2 species for the study period. However, the conditional \mathbb{R}^2 values remain rather low, the model only offers a partial answer for the cells production of both species when considering indistinctly dormant and active individuals. Indeed, some studies have shown the complexity of growth-climate relationships due to the frequent correlation of climateparameters [91]. On the other hand, the synthetic climate variable is a much more reliable predictor when only active individuals are considered (Table 3.5).

As observed for S. zenkeri and P. oleosa, many studies have proven the importance of precipitation on cambial activity for many climatic and ecological contexts in tropics and subtropics [92, 75]. Most of the time radial growth is correlated to the average daily precipitation and cumulative precipitation. A positive correlation between the annual growth of trees and annual precipitation has been verified for species of the Theorem [39]. More particulary, Iluanga and al. have shown that M. excelsa is correlated to the first rainy period (from April to May) while *P.elata* is correlated to the second rainy period (from September to octobre) (Ilunga et al., 2022). As with these two species, it is possible that some species such as T. madagascariense, S. zenkeri and P. oleosa may be more susceptible to the short rainy season (Feburary to June), while L. thompsonii and S. subcordatum may be more susceptible to the second rainy season (July to December) (Figure 2.1C). Furthermore, we only consider 2-weeks intervals of precipitations, but we do not evaluate the influence of precipitation cumulated over a longer period. Indeed, Worbes notably proved that the cambial activity was not only due to the rainfall of the few weeks preceding the collection of the samples, but rather to the yearly rainfall accumulation [43]. In the same vein, Brienen showed that for Amburana cearensis cambial activity was indeed correlated with the amount of precipitation observed during the cambial activity period [93]. But for cedrela odorata, the start of the cambial activity depends on the amount of the last precipitations that took place during the previous activity period [93]. Moroever, Brochert has shown that in tropical dry forests, although a correlation is observed between rainfall and cambial growth for deciduous forest, semi-deciduous and evergreen species are more dependent to water reserve of the soil [56]. In this case, growth is strongly dependent on the water reserve of the soil [56]. In particular, vascular tissue differentiation is associated with soil moisture and rainfall [91]. Marcati also found that cambial activity was highest when excess water was present in the soil [76]. This emphasizes the importance, not only of rainfall at a "T" time, but especially of the availability and quantity of the soil water reserve. These assumptions should be reconsidered in this case study.

If the model M1 that consider the synthetic climate variable is the most acceptable of the proposed models for *P. oleosa* and *S. zenkeri*, others models taking temperature variable seem to be more suitable for *T. madagascariense* and *P. macrocarpus*. The alternative models proposed for *P. macrocrpus* and *T. madagascariense* seem to offer a better prediction of cell growth due to lower residual error and higher R². Maximum and minimum temperatures as well as relative humidity are to be considered for *P. macrocarpus* (M3_PM), in addition to these variables average and total rainfall are to be considered for *T. madagascariense* (M3_TM)(Appendice 6.1). Although the influence of these parameters is much more significant and offers a better predictive model, they therefore require more

variables. However, all the proposed models show that there is a significant gain in incorporating the random effect of individuals, especially when there are few individuals that show very different cambial status. The effect of temperature on the resumption of cambial activity is well known in temperate climates [81, 50]. In addition, Pandley has also reviewed the state of knowledge on the climat-growth relationship for many case studies [59]. Conversely, the impact of temperature seems to be less obvious in tropical climates [94]. Temperature is sometimes correlated with other climate variables such as exposure time or evapotranspiration, which means that its lonely effect on growth is rarely established [91, 95].

Furthermore, S. zenkeri, T. madagascariense and S. subcordatum growths are negatively correlated with time exposure. The exposure time tends to decrease over the study period. However, exposure thime, or photoperiod, may play a role in the recovery of cambial activity. Indeed, Clark et al. have shown that beyond a certain water availability, the limiting factor for growth is photosynthetic radiation [9]. Moreover, cambial dormancy in a tropical evergreen species is long-lasting, and the initiation of cambial activity can be related to day length [79]. Therefore, some of the species considered may be more sensitive to this variable.

The results obtained by linear mixed models should be considered with reservations. Indeed, on the one hand, the set of cellular data is rather reduced because of the shortness of the study period and the number of individuals considered for each species. On the other hand, the climate variable used only explains 52% of the variability observed between data collections. Thus it is very likely that other factors than those retained by the main axis of the PCA have an influence on cells production that is not measured by the regression. Furthermore, as has been shown, variation in cell numbers between collections is rarely significant. Therefore, the non-expression of the regression may not be due to the fact that climate has no influence on cell production but rather that there is statistically no cell production during the study period. Moreover, these calculations were made considering individuals with very different cambial states. It therefore seems logical that for species and individuals which do not show any cambial activity during the study area, that the climate does not explain the cells production. Finally, mean climate parameters consider a two weeks interval before the micro-cores collection. This means that even if the effect of climate is insignificant at the scale of the interval considered, the hypothesis that variables considered over a longer period of time may have an effect on cell production.

In conclusion, we note that growth-climate relationships differ from one species to another. This is a phenomenon also observed by Yanez-Espinoza, who explains this variability by the fact that the species manage to coexist by adopting different growth-climate relationships [91].

4.3.3 Foliar phenology and climate

On the scale of the study period, leaf production, fruiting and, to a lesser extent, flowering are noticeable for certain species (Figures 3.20, 3.21, 3.19 and Table 3.4). No significant senescence was observed. We see that for *G. suaveolens* and *L. thompsonii* there is a decrease in old leaves and an increase in new ones (Figures 3.20). For *P. oleosa* there is leaf maturation. This production of leaves implies that senescence must have occurred previously. If it is true that the leaf fall and production of evergreen species is less marked, caducity is possible under certain conditions [39]. However, Yanez-Espinosa has shown that in subtropical environments these species can adopt a certain seasonal phenology [86]. In addition, leaf loss of deciduous species occurs during the drought period for Thsopo. Indeed, some evergreen species can show periods of senescence in strong climates, but in weak climates this phenomenon is much less intense and shorter [53]. However, leaf production could be positively correlated with rainfall, especially for *P. oleosa*, *S. zenkeri* and *S. subcordatum* which show the appearance of new leaves following the first peak of rainfall observed during the study period (Figures 3.20). This phenomenon has been observed in particular for species forming the canopy [90]. Our trees are dominant or sub-dominant so this could be the case. Consequently, if we assume that leaf loss is initiated by the drought period at the beginning of the year (Figure 2.1C), by

producing new leaves, the species show a more or less rapid or important reaction to the short period of senescence induced by this drought. However, Borchert has shown that rainfall is rarely in deficit at the equator and does not coincide with phenological strategies [96]. But the phenological previous data for February are missing to confirm any of these hypotheses.

Moreover, it seems that the observations made at the plot level illustrate well the diversity of cases observed at the forest level. The phenocam images illustrate some greening from March to May, with new leaves production in many crowns. This observation was also made in February in tropical Africa by Borchert [96].

Moreover, results show that species and individuals seem adopt different reproductive strategies such as flowering and/or fruiting cycles by producing asynchronous fruits or flowers (Figures 3.19, 3.20). Adamescu studied this variability of strategies across Africa and found that although these processes are often annual, especially for West African species; they are mostly irregular, and can also be sub-annual for East Central African species [97]. Moreover, it shows that these processes take place throughout the year even when there is a marked seasonality [90, 97]. Thus, although environmental conditions fluctuate annually, they have an impact on seasonal growth, they do not seem to be identical throughout Africa. This observation shows the importance of understanding locally or regionally the relationships between phenology and climate.

A slight decrease of the time exposure is observed over the study period (Figure 3.22B). But overall, an increase in leaf mass and crown turnover was observed for the species monitored as well as at the forest scale (Figures 3.21, 3.19), perhaps excepted for *G. suaveolens*. In temperate regions, the decrease in photoperiod often leads to a loss of leaves [98]. In the tropics, leaf loss can be related to the photoperiod but also to the rainfall pattern. Furthermore, some semi-deciduous species from Central America renew their leaves following an increase in photoperiod [58], which seems to not corroborate our results. It is possible, however, that cloud cover was less important during the dry season preceding the data collection. Due to lack of data, this hypothesis cannot be excluded. But other studies have shown that leaf loss is more related to water stress than to reduced photoperiod [99].

5 Conclusion and perspectives

5.1 Conclusion

This work made it possible to characterise the tree-ring transitions for six species that are abundant in the Yangambi forests. In addition, the micro-core processing proved to be relevant for the targeted study of the cambial zone for these species. This approach is feasible and produces a huge quantity of relevant information. Furthermore, this study demonstrated the importance of using adapted tools for the interpretation of cells development for active cambiums. We confirm the importance of following the cambial activity of many species through periodic micro-coring during a complete growing season.

Significant variabilities in growth patterns but also in leaf phenology were detected both between and within species. During the transition period between March and April, cambial activity was observed for *P. oleosa, S. zenkeri, T. madagascariense* and *P. macrocarpus. L. thompsonii* and *S. subcordatum* showed dormancy. The brief timelapse camera approach gives a more accurate view of leaf phenology, taking into account the phenological variability of species. But the phenological observations made at the individual scale seem to be a representative sample of the observations made at the forest scale.

The comparison of foliar and cambial results could not demonstrate that activity or dormancy is directly related to the appearance or loss of fruits, flowers or fruits. However, it can be said that even if the cambial status is different between individuals, the leaf phenology is rather similar within species. The production of fruits, flowers or leaves does not seem to occur at the same time for species and individuals whether their cambium is dormant or active.

The species also show different sensitivities to meteorological parameters such as temperature or precipitation. Cambial growth of P. oleosa and S. zenkeri is partly explained by precipitation and exposure time while that of P. macrocarpus and T. madagascariense are mostly explained by temperature and exposure time.

5.2 Perspectives

As the number of individuals considered by species is smaller, the inter-species variability is sometimes high. In order to extract a more representative trend of cambial and foliar phenology at the species level, we need to consider more individuals to better take into account intraspecific diversity.

Anatomical sections analysis should be continued. Indeed, obtained results from conducted collections are highly satisfactory but the analysis made offers a first approach of the collected data. It is to be considered to deepen the anatomical study of the sections by focusing on one species at a time, in particular to be interested in the evolution of the size of the vessels, the shape and composition of the cell rays, the structure of the parenchyma but also the anatomy of the phloem.

About climate-growth relation, it can be relevant to consider other exogenous factors that may affect vegetation growth by expanding this study to other environmental parameters such as the soil nature and composition, the mineral richness, the water reserve of the soil, cumulation of precipitation over several months among others. It would be relevant to consider the amount of water present in the soil by measuring this over a year.

The results and discussions carried out must be considered with hindsight. Indeed, while the approach followed was relevant, the study period was short in terms of the cambium cycle. Indeed, it was tested to establish a relationship between climate and cell production, but mainly focusing on an interval of a few weeks. As it seems unlikely that the whole cambium cycle is limited to this interval, it cannot be excluded that the conclusions drawn are inadequate for a longer period considered.

A last, a critical element of this study is the measurement period. This work provides many information about cambial and foliar phenologies of species within forest of the Congo Basin. Nevertheless, in order to better understand the evolution of these process at inter-annual scale, to relate biological processes and evolution of local climate; we need to expand the period of study. It will be useful to better covering the entire season of growth, and obtain further information about foliar and cambial phenology on the scale of the dry period that precedes this short rainy season or on an entire year.

References

- FAO, Évaluation des ressources forestières mondiales 2020: Rapport principal. Rome, Italy: FAO, 2021.
- [2] P. Smith, M. R. Ashmore, H. I. J. Black, P. J. Burgess, C. D. Evans, T. A. Quine, A. M. Thomson, K. Hicks, and H. G. Orr, "REVIEW: The role of ecosystems and their management in regulating climate, and soil, water and air quality," *Journal of Applied Ecology*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 812–829, 2013. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/1365-2664.12016.
- [3] "Forests and climate change," Nov. 2017.
- [4] C. e. De Wasseige, M. e. Tadoum, R. e. Eba'a Atyi, and C. e. Doumenge, The forests of the Congo Basin - Forests and climate change. Weyrich, 2015.
- [5] J. Kyale Koy, D. A. Wardell, J.-F. Mikwa, J. M. Kabuanga, A. M. Monga Ngonga, J. Oszwald, and C. Doumenge, "Dynamique de la déforestation dans la Réserve de biosphère de Yangambi (République démocratique du Congo) : variabilité spatiale et temporelle au cours des 30 dernières années," BOIS & FORETS DES TROPIQUES, vol. 341, p. 15, July 2019.
- [6] P. Vitousek, H. Mooney, J. Lubchenco, and J. Melillo, "Human Domination of Earth's Ecosystems," *Science*, vol. 277, July 1997.
- [7] K. Brandon, "Ecosystem Services from Tropical Forests: Review of Current Science," SSRN Electronic Journal, 2014.
- [8] J. A. Holm, L. M. Kueppers, and J. Q. Chambers, "Novel tropical forests: response to global change," New Phytologist, vol. 213, pp. 988–992, Feb. 2017.
- [9] D. A. Clark and D. B. Clark, "Assessing the Growth of Tropical Rain Forest Trees: Issues for Forest Modeling and Management," *Ecological Applications*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 981–997, 1999. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1890/1051-0761%281999%29009%5B0981%3AATGOTR%5D2.0.CO%3B2.
- [10] C. B. K. Rathgeber, H. E. Cuny, and P. Fonti, "Biological Basis of Tree-Ring Formation: A Crash Course," *Frontiers in Plant Science*, vol. 7, 2016.
- [11] H. Cuny, C. Rathgeber, D. Frank, P. Fonti, H. Mäkinen, P. Prislan, S. Rossi, E. Martinez del Castillo, F. Campelo, H. Vavrčík, J. Camarero, M. Bryukhanova, T. Jyske, J. Gricar, V. Gryc, M. De Luis, J. Vieira, K. Cufar, A. Kirdyanov, and M. Fournier, "Woody biomass production lags stem-girth increase by over one month in coniferous forests," *Nature Plants*, vol. Article number: 15160, pp. 1–6, Oct. 2015.
- J. R. Obeso, "The costs of reproduction in plants," New Phytologist, vol. 155, no. 3, pp. 321–348, 2002. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1046/j.1469-8137.2002.00477.x.
- [13] D. Rozendaal and P. Zuidema, "Dendroecology in the Tropics," Trees, vol. 25, pp. 3–16, Apr. 2011.
- [14] A. Dié, P. Kitin, F. N. Kouamé, J. Van den Bulcke, J. Van Acker, and H. Beeckman, "Fluctuations of cambial activity in relation to precipitation result in annual rings and intra-annual growth zones of xylem and phloem in teak (Tectona grandis) in Ivory Coast," *Annals of Botany*, vol. 110, pp. 861–873, Sept. 2012.
- [15] B. Angoboy Ilondea, H. Beeckman, J. Van Acker, J. Van den Bulcke, A. Fayolle, C. Couralet, W. Hubau, C. Kafuti, M. Rousseau, A. Kaka di Makwala, N. Bourland, V. Deklerck, E. Kasongo Yakusu, C. Ewango, and T. De Mil, "Variation in Onset of Leaf Unfolding and Wood Formation in a Central African Tropical Tree Species," *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change*, vol. 4, 2021.

- [16] M. Jiménez-Noriega, L. Lopez-Mata, and T. Terrazas, "Cambial Activity and Phenology in Three Understory Species along an Altitude Gradient in Mexico," *Forests*, vol. 12, p. 506, Apr. 2021.
- [17] S. Rossi, T. Anfodillo, and R. Menardi, "Trephor: A New Tool for Sampling Microcores from tree stems," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 89–97, 2006.
- [18] A. Deslauriers, S. Rossi, and E. Liang, "Collecting and Processing Wood Microcores for Monitoring Xylogenesis," pp. 417–429, Sept. 2015.
- [19] J. C. Linares, J. J. Camarero, and J. A. Carreira, "Plastic responses of Abies pinsapo xylogenesis to drought and competition," *Tree Physiology*, vol. 29, pp. 1525–1536, Dec. 2009.
- [20] S. Begum, S. Nakaba, Y. Yamagishi, Y. Oribe, and R. Funada, "Regulation of cambial activity in relation to environmental conditions: understanding the role of temperature in wood formation of trees," *Physiologia Plantarum*, vol. 147, no. 1, pp. 46–54, 2013. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2012.01663.x.
- [21] K. Abernethy, E. R. Bush, P.-M. Forget, I. Mendoza, and L. P. C. Morellato, "Current issues in tropical phenology: a synthesis," *Biotropica*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 477–482, 2018. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/btp.12558.
- [22] T. J. Wodzicki, "Natural factors affecting wood structure," Wood Science and Technology, vol. 35, pp. 5–26, Apr. 2001.
- [23] P. Schippers, F. Sterck, M. Vlam, and P. A. Zuidema, "Tree growth variation in the tropical forest: understanding effects of temperature, rainfall and CO2," *Global Change Biology*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 2749–2761, 2015. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/gcb.12877.
- [24] A. E. Zanne, B. Oberle, K. M. Dunham, A. M. Milo, M. L. Walton, and D. F. Young, "A deteriorating state of affairs: How endogenous and exogenous factors determine plant decay rates," *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 103, no. 6, pp. 1421–1431, 2015. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/1365-2745.12474.
- [25] W. Tang, S. Liu, P. Kang, X. Peng, Y. Li, R. Guo, J. Jia, M. Liu, and L. Zhu, "Quantifying the lagged effects of climate factors on vegetation growth in 32 major cities of China," *Ecological Indicators*, vol. 132, p. 108290, Dec. 2021.
- [26] C. Stahl, B. Burban, F. Bompy, Z. B. Jolin, J. Sermage, and D. Bonal, "Seasonal variation in atmospheric relative humidity contributes to explaining seasonal variation in trunk circumference of tropical rain-forest trees in French Guiana," *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, vol. 26, pp. 393–405, July 2010. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [27] T. T. Kozlowski, Tree growth. New York: Ronald Press Co., 1962. OCLC: 552422.
- [28] H. Morel, Dynamique de croissance radiale saisonnière et annuelle des arbres en forêt tropicale humide guyanaise. phdthesis, Université des Antilles et de la Guyane, May 2013. Pages: 179 p. + annexes.
- [29] B. Marquant, A. Mosnier, B. Bodin, H. Dessard, L. Feintrenie, Q. Molto, V. Gond, and N. Bayol, "Importance des forêts d'Afrique centrale," p. 19.
- [30] S. LHOEST, "Biodiversité et services écosystémiques en forêts tropicales : le rôle des affectations des terres forestières dans la région du Dja, Cameroun," BOIS & FORETS DES TROPIQUES, vol. 345, pp. 105–106, Nov. 2020. Section: RÉSUMÉS DE THÈSE.
- [31] https://plus.google.com/+UNESCO, "Réseau mondial des réserves de biosphère (WNBR)," Oct. 2019.

- [32] S. S. Saatchi, N. L. Harris, S. Brown, M. Lefsky, E. T. A. Mitchard, W. Salas, B. R. Zutta, W. Buermann, S. L. Lewis, S. Hagen, S. Petrova, L. White, M. Silman, and A. Morel, "Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 108, pp. 9899–9904, June 2011. Publisher: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.
- [33] Y. Malhi, S. Adu-Bredu, R. A. Asare, S. L. Lewis, and P. Mayaux, "African rainforests: past, present and future," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 368, p. 20120312, Sept. 2013.
- [34] J.-P. Pascal, "Quelques exemples de problèmes posés à l'analyste et au modélisateur par la complexité de la forêt tropicale humide," *Revue d'Ecologie, Terre et Vie*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 237–249, 1995. Publisher: Société nationale de protection de la nature.
- [35] T. De Mil, "Intra-annual to multi-decadal xylem traits in a tropical moist semi-deciduous forest of Central Africa," Afrika Focus, vol. 30, pp. 136–140, Feb. 2017. Publisher: Brill.
- [36] V. Trouet, M. Mukelabai, A. Verheyden, and H. Beeckman, "Cambial Growth Season of Brevi-Deciduous Brachystegia spiciformis Trees from South Central Africa Restricted to Less than Four Months," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 7, p. e47364, Oct. 2012. Publisher: Public Library of Science.
- [37] T. De Mil, W. Hubau, B. Angoboy Ilondea, M. A. Rocha Vargas, P. Boeckx, K. Steppe, J. Van Acker, H. Beeckman, and J. Van den Bulcke, "Asynchronous leaf and cambial phenology in a tree species of the Congo Basin requires space-time conversion of wood traits," *Annals* of Botany, vol. 124, pp. 245–253, Sept. 2019.
- [38] J. Bogaert, H. Beeckman, C. De Cannière, P. Defourny, and Q. Ponette, Les forêts de la Tshopo. Ecologie, histoire et composition. 2020.
- [39] Y. Tarelkin, K. Hufkens, S. Hahn, J. Van den Bulcke, J.-F. Bastin, B. A. Ilondea, O. Debeir, J. Van Acker, H. Beeckman, and C. De Cannière, "Wood anatomy variability under contrasted environmental conditions of common deciduous and evergreen species from central African forests," *Trees*, vol. 33, pp. 893–909, June 2019.
- [40] C. Ilunga, F. Mbayu, F. Boyemba, P. Sabongo, H. Nshimba, and L. Ndjele, "Relation précipitations et croissances des arbres tropicaux dans les forêts semi- décidues de la région de Kisangani en RD Congo: Cas de Milicia excelsa (Welw.) C.C. Berg et Pericopsis elata (Harms) Meuwen," Apr. 2019. Publisher: Zenodo.
- [41] N. Bourland, Y. L. Kouadio, F. Fétéké, P. Lejeune, and J.-L. Doucet, "Ecology and management of Pericopsis elata (Harms) Meeuwen (Fabaceae) populations: a review," *Biotechnol. Agron. Soc. Environ.*, p. 13, 2012.
- [42] H. Beeckman, "WOOD ANATOMY AND TRAIT-BASED ECOLOGY," IAWA Journal, vol. 37, pp. 127–151, July 2016. Publisher: Brill.
- [43] M. Worbes, "Growth Rings, Increment and Age of Trees in Inundation Forests, Savannas and a Mountain Forest in the Neotropics," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 109 – 122, 1989. Place: Leiden, The Netherlands Publisher: Brill.
- [44] L. Plavcová and S. Jansen, "The Role of Xylem Parenchyma in the Storage and Utilization of Nonstructural Carbohydrates," in *Functional and Ecological Xylem Anatomy* (U. Hacke, ed.), pp. 209–234, Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2015.
- [45] B. F. Wilson, "The growing tree.," The growing tree., 1970.
- [46] H. E. Cuny and C. B. Rathgeber, "Une synthèse sur le fonctionnement et la régulation des processus cellulaires de la formation du bois," *Revue Forestière Française*, no. 6, pp. Fr.], ISSN 0035, 2014.

- [47] S. Lachaud, A.-M. Catesson, and J.-L. Bonnemain, "Structure and functions of the vascular cambium," *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences - Series III - Sciences de la Vie*, vol. 322, pp. 633–650, Aug. 1999.
- [48] R. Zhong and Z.-H. Ye, "Secondary Cell Walls," in eLS, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2009. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/9780470015902.a0021256.
- [49] B. Bollhöner, J. Prestele, and H. Tuominen, "Xylem cell death: emerging understanding of regulation and function," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, vol. 63, pp. 1081–1094, Feb. 2012.
- [50] K. Giagli, J. Gričar, H. Vavrčík, and V. Gryc, "Nine-year monitoring of cambial seasonality and cell production in Norway spruce," *iForest - Biogeosciences and Forestry*, vol. 9, pp. 375–382, June 2016.
- [51] J. J. O'Brien, S. F. Oberbauer, D. B. Clark, and D. A. Clark, "Phenology and Stem Diameter Increment Seasonality in a Costa Rican Wet Tropical Forest," *Biotropica*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 151– 159, 2008. Publisher: [Association for Tropical Biology and Conservation, Wiley].
- [52] G. C. Jacoby, "Overview of Tree-Ring Analysis in Tropical Regions," IAWA Journal, vol. 10, pp. 99–108, Jan. 1989. Publisher: Brill.
- [53] Y. Tarelkin, C. Delvaux, M. De Ridder, T. El Berkani, C. De Cannière, and H. Beeckman, "GROWTH-RING DISTINCTNESS AND BOUNDARY ANATOMY VARIABILITY IN TROP-ICAL TREES," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 37, pp. 275–S7, July 2016.
- [54] A. Déjardin, F. Laurans, D. Arnaud, C. Breton, G. Pilate, and J.-C. Leplé, "Wood formation in Angiosperms," *Comptes Rendus Biologies*, vol. 333, pp. 325–334, Apr. 2010.
- [55] S. H. Bullock, "Effects of seasonal rainfall on radial growth in two tropical tree species," International Journal of Biometeorology, vol. 41, pp. 13–16, Aug. 1997.
- [56] R. Borchert, "Climatic Periodicity, Phenology, and Cambium Activity in Tropical Dry Forest Trees," IAWA Journal, vol. 20, pp. 239–247, Jan. 1999. Publisher: Brill.
- [57] J. Gricar, "Influence of Temperature on Cambial Activity and Cell Differentiation in Quercus Sessiliflora and Acer Pseudoplatanus of Different Ages," *Drvna industrija*, vol. 64, pp. 95–105, June 2013.
- [58] G. Rivera, S. Elliott, L. S. Caldas, G. Nicolossi, V. T. Coradin, and R. Borchert, "Increasing daylength induces spring flushing of tropical dry forest trees in the absence of rain," *Trees*, vol. 16, pp. 445–456, Sept. 2002.
- [59] S. Pandey, "Climatic influence on tree wood anatomy: a review," Journal of Wood Science, vol. 67, p. 24, Mar. 2021.
- [60] H. Mäkinen, J.-W. Seo, P. Nöjd, U. Schmitt, and R. Jalkanen, "Seasonal dynamics of wood formation: a comparison between pinning, microcoring and dendrometer measurements," *European Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 127, pp. 235–245, May 2008.
- [61] F. F. Lebourgeois and P. Mérian, "Principes et méthodes de la dendrochronologie." Publisher: AgroParisTech, Oct. 2012.
- [62] P. Detienne, F. Oyono, L. Durrieu de Madron, B. Demarquez, and R. Nasi, L'analyse de cernes: applications aux études de croissance de quelques essences en peuplements naturels de forét dense africaine. CIRAD-Foret, 1998. Accepted: 2012-06-04T09:04:52Z.
- [63] A. Mariaux, "Les cernes dans les bois tropicaux africains : nature et périodicité (suite et fin)," Bois et Forêts des Tropiques, 1967.

- [64] N. Latte, H. Beeckman, S. Bauwens, S. Bonnet, and P. Lejeune, "A novel procedure to measure shrinkage-free tree-rings from very large wood samples combining photogrammetry, highresolution image processing, and GIS tools," *Dendrochronologia*, vol. 34, pp. 24–28, 2015.
- [65] D. Sheil, "Growth assessment in tropical trees: large daily diameter fluctuations and their concealment by dendrometer bands," *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 33, pp. 2027–2035, Oct. 2003. Publisher: NRC Research Press.
- [66] D. M. Drew and G. M. Downes, "The use of precision dendrometers in research on daily stem size and wood property variation: A review," *Dendrochronologia*, vol. 27, pp. 159–172, Jan. 2009.
- [67] J.-W. Seo, D. Eckstein, and U. Schmitt, "The pinning method: From pinning to data preparation," *Dendrochronologia*, vol. 25, pp. 79–86, Sept. 2007.
- [68] M. C. Peel, B. L. Finlayson, and T. A. McMahon, "Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification," *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 11, pp. 1633–1644, Oct. 2007.
- [69] B. MOHYMONT and G. Demarée, "Courbes intensite—duree—frequence des precipitations a Yangambi, Congo, au moyen de differents modeles de type Montana / Intensity—duration—frequency curves for precipitation at Yangambi, Congo, derived by means of various models of Montana type," Hydrological Sciences Journal-journal Des Sciences Hydrologiques - HYDROLOG SCI J, vol. 51, pp. 239–253, Apr. 2006.
- [70] E. Kearsley, T. de Haulleville, K. Hufkens, A. Kidimbu, B. Toirambe, G. Baert, D. Huygens, Y. Kebede, P. Defourny, J. Bogaert, H. Beeckman, K. Steppe, P. Boeckx, and H. Verbeeck, "Conventional tree height-diameter relationships significantly overestimate aboveground carbon stocks in the Central Congo Basin," *Nature Communications*, vol. 4, p. 2269, Aug. 2013. Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [71] F. Van de Perre, S. Dessein, E. Verheyen, D. Van den Broeck, E. Kearsley, and H. Leirs, "The COBIMFO project: An assessment of the relation between carbon storage and biodiversity in the Yangambi Biosphere Reserve (DR Congo)," June 2014.
- [72] H. Dawkins and D. Field, A long-term Surveillance System for British Woodland Vegetation. No. No 1. in C.F.I. Occasional Papers, commonwealth forestry institute ed., 1978.
- [73] P. Prislan, J. Gričar, and K. Čufar, "Wood Sample Preparation for Microscopic Analysis," p. 8, Mar. 2014.
- [74] O. Sonnentag, K. Hufkens, C. Teshera-Sterne, A. M. Young, M. Friedl, B. H. Braswell, T. Milliman, J. O'Keefe, and A. D. Richardson, "Digital repeat photography for phenological research in forest ecosystems," *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 152, pp. 159–177, Jan. 2012.
- [75] H. Morel, T. Mangenet, J. Beauchêne, J. Ruelle, E. Nicolini, P. Heuret, and B. Thibaut, "Seasonal variations in phenological traits: leaf shedding and cambial activity in Parkia nitida Miq. and Parkia velutina Benoist (Fabaceae) in tropical rainforest," *Trees*, vol. 29, pp. 973–984, Aug. 2015.
- [76] C. R. Marcati, C. R. D. Milanez, and S. R. Machado, "Seasonal development of secondary xylem and phloem in Schizolobium parahyba (Vell.) Blake (Leguminosae: Caesalpinioideae)," *Trees*, vol. 22, pp. 3–12, Feb. 2008.
- [77] C. R. Marcati, V. Angyalossy, and R. F. Evert, "SEASONAL VARIATION IN WOOD FOR-MATION OF CEDRELA FISSILIS (MELIACEAE)," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 27, pp. 199–211, Jan. 2006. Publisher: Brill.
- [78] O. Dünisch, J. Bauch, and L. Gasparotto, "Formation of increment zones and intraannual growth dynamics in the xylem of Swietenia macrophylla, Carapa guianensis, and Cedrela odorata (Meliaceae)," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 23, pp. 101–119, Jan. 2002.

- [79] N. Lara and C. Marcati, "Cambial dormancy lasts 9 months in a tropical evergreen species," *Trees*, vol. 30, Aug. 2016.
- [80] D. K. Rajput, K. Rao, and Y. Kim, "Cambial Activity and Wood Anatomy in Prosopis Spicigera (Mimosaceae) Affected by Combined air Pollutants," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 29, Jan. 2008.
- [81] S. Begum, S. Nakaba, Y. Oribe, T. Kubo, and R. Funada, "Cambial sensitivity to rising temperatures by natural condition and artificial heating from late winter to early spring in the evergreen conifer Cryptomeria Japonica," *Trees*, vol. 24, pp. 43–52, Feb. 2010.
- [82] P. Prislan, U. Schmitt, G. Koch, J. Gričar, and K. Čufar1, "Seasonal ultrastructural changes in the cambial zone of beech (Fagus sylvatica) grown at two different altitudes," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 32, pp. 443–459, Jan. 2011. Publisher: Brill.
- [83] T. O. Siddiqi, "Impact of Seasonal Variation on the Structure and Activity of vascular Cambium in ficus Religiosa1," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 12, pp. 177–185, Jan. 1991. Publisher: Brill.
- [84] M. Arend and J. Fromm, "Ultrastructural Changes in Cambial Cell Derivatives during Xylem Differentiation in Poplar," *Plant Biology*, vol. 5, pp. 255–264, May 2003. Publisher: Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York.
- [85] W. R. Philipson and J. M. Ward, "The Ontogeny of the Vascular Cambium in the Stem of Seed Plants," *Biological Reviews*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 534–579, 1965. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1469-185X.1965.tb00816.x.
- [86] L. Yáñez-Espinosa, T. Terrazas, and L. López-Mata, "Phenology and radial stem growth periodicity in evergreen subtropical rainforest trees," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 31, pp. 293–307, Jan. 2010. Publisher: Brill.
- [87] A. K. M. Ghouse and S. Hashmi, "Periodicity of Cambium and the Formation of Xylem and Phloem in Minusops elengi L., an Evergreen Member of Tropical India1)1)Dedicated to the memory of Professor K. A. Chowdhury, the founder of Plant Anatomy Laboratory in Aligarh Muslim University.," *Flora*, vol. 173, pp. 479–487, Jan. 1983.
- [88] A. Miodek, A. Gizińska, M. Klisz, T. Wojda, K. Ukalski, and P. Kojs, "Direct exposure to solar radiation causes radial growth eccentricity at the beginning of the growing season in Robinia pseudoacacia," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 41, pp. 61–84, Feb. 2020. Publisher: Brill.
- [89] C. B. K. Rathgeber, S. Rossi, and J.-D. Bontemps, "Cambial activity related to tree size in a mature silver-fir plantation," Annals of Botany, vol. 108, pp. 429–438, Sept. 2011.
- [90] C. Couralet, Community dynamics, phenology and growth of tropical trees in the rain forest reserve of Luki, Democratic Republic of Congo. dissertation, Ghent University, 2010. ISBN: 9789059893870.
- [91] L. Yáñez-Espinosa, T. Terrazas, and L. López-Mata, "Integrated Analysis of Tropical Trees Growth: A Multivariate Approach," Annals of Botany, vol. 98, pp. 637–645, Sept. 2006.
- [92] C. H. Callado, F. A. Roig, M. Tomazello-Filho, and C. F. Barros, "CAMBIAL GROWTH PE-RIODICITY STUDIES OF SOUTH AMERICAN WOODY SPECIES – A REVIEW," *IAWA Journal*, vol. 34, pp. 213–230, Jan. 2013. Publisher: Brill.
- [93] R. J. W. Brienen and P. A. Zuidema, "Relating tree growth to rainfall in Bolivian rain forests: a test for six species using tree ring analysis," *Oecologia*, vol. 146, pp. 1–12, Nov. 2005.
- [94] N. Pumijumnong and T. Wanyaphet, "Seasonal cambial activity and tree-ring formation of Pinus merkusii and Pinus kesiya in Northern Thailand in dependence on climate," *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 226, pp. 279–289, May 2006.
- [95] J. M. Oliveira, E. Santarosa, V. D. Pillar, and F. A. Roig, "Seasonal cambium activity in the subtropical rain forest tree Araucaria angustifolia," *Trees*, vol. 23, pp. 107–115, Feb. 2009.
- [96] R. Borchert, Z. Calle, A. H. Strahler, A. Baertschi, R. E. Magill, J. S. Broadhead, J. Kamau, J. Njoroge, and C. Muthuri, "Insolation and photoperiodic control of tree development near the equator," *New Phytologist*, vol. 205, no. 1, pp. 7–13, 2015. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/nph.12981.
- [97] G. S. Adamescu, A. J. Plumptre, K. A. Abernethy, L. Polansky, E. R. Bush, C. A. Chapman, L. P. Shoo, A. Fayolle, K. R. L. Janmaat, M. M. Robbins, H. J. Ndangalasi, N. J. Cordeiro, I. C. Gilby, R. M. Wittig, T. Breuer, M. B.-N. Hockemba, C. M. Sanz, D. B. Morgan, A. E. Pusey, B. Mugerwa, B. Gilagiza, C. Tutin, C. E. N. Ewango, D. Sheil, E. Dimoto, F. Baya, F. Bujo, F. Ssali, J.-T. Dikangadissi, K. Jeffery, K. Valenta, L. White, M. Masozera, M. L. Wilson, R. Bitariho, S. T. Ndolo Ebika, S. Gourlet-Fleury, F. Mulindahabi, and C. M. Beale, "Annual cycles are the most common reproductive strategy in African tropical tree communities," *Biotropica*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 418–430, 2018. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/btp.12561.
- [98] J. A. Romberger, Meristems, Growth, and Development in Woody Plants: An Analytical Review of Anatomical, Physiological, and Morphogenic Aspects. U.S. Government Printing Office, 1963. Google-Books-ID: wcpMV2Wud6UC.
- [99] R. Daubenmire, "Phenology and Other Characteristics of Tropical Semi-Deciduous Forest in North-Western Costa Rica," *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 147–170, 1972. Publisher: [Wiley, British Ecological Society].

6 Appendices

Encadré 10. Statut de dominance selon Dawkins¹⁷

La lumière disponible pour l'arbre est estimée à partir de la position de sa couronne en utilisant cinq indices de « statut social de l'arbre » mis au point par Dawkins. La signification des indices 1, 2, 3, 4 et 5 sur la Figure 19 est détaillée ci-dessous :

- 1) Indice 1 : arbre de la strate inférieure, couronne non exposée à la lumière directe.
- 2) Indice 2 : arbre de la strate inférieure, couronne exposée potentiellement à la lumière indirecte.
- 3) Indice 3 : arbre de la strate intermédiaire, couronne exposée à la lumière directe verticale.
- 4) Indice 4 : arbre de la strate supérieure, couronne totalement exposée à la lumière directe verticale.
- 5) Indice 5 : arbre dont la couronne est totalement exposée à la lumière directe.



Figure 6.1: The Crown Illumination Index (CII) developed by Dawkins and Field (Dawkins et al., 1978). Taken from : (Tosso et al., 2020).



Figure 6.2: PCA chart of mean climate parameters for 2 weeks intervals considered over the study period (from 22/02/20 to 22/04/22) for the values of air humidity, sustained insolation, maximum and minimum temperatures (°C), precipitation (mm) and sum of precipitations (mm). The cos2 indicates the quality of representation of variables on the PCA graph with an increased quality from blue to red.



Figure 6.3: (A), (B), (C), (D) are cross-sections of the cambial zone of G. suaveolens under light microscope.



Figure 6.4: Cross-sections of P. oleosa (A), P. macrocarpus (B), S. zenkeri (C), S. subcordatum (D) and T. madagascariense (E) under light microscope. The purple frame corresponds to the transition zone between bark and wood.

Table 6.1: Goodness-of-fit of linear mixed model analyses of the relationships between cambial activity and climate parameters taking into account the randomness of individuals (M3)

	$\ln(cambial\ activity)\ \sim Tmax\ +\ Tmin\ +\ HR\ + (1 Individual)$						
	P. macrocarpus		Marginal R ²		0,252		
			Conditional R ²		0,581		
$\ln (cambial \ activity) \ \sim Tmax \ + \ Tmin \ + \ HR \ + \ Prcptsum \ + \ Prcpt \ + \ (1 Individual)$							
T. madagascariense		Marginal R ²		0,251			
		Conditional R ²		$0,\!386$			